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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEHRE

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
BE=B=1+—-HILEE

2022 2021 Change

—E-oE —E-—F 23

Revenue WA HK$1,856.0 million HK$1,918.3 million VvV 32%
(Restated)
1,856.0 B & BT 1,918.3 &AL
(&51)

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners B R FIEREA A HK$(305.2) million HK$123.9 million V 346.3%
of the parent R,/ (EE) (305.2) EE# T 1239BEBT

Basic earnings/(loss) per share SREAREF/ (FB) HK(2.06) cents HK0.77 cent V 367.5%
(2.06) &l 0.77 71l

Total dividends declared per share & K &Z% A% B 4458 HKO.1 cent HKO.3 cent V 66.7%
0.1 4L 0.3/l

AT 31 MARCH
R=B=+—H

2022 2021 Change

—EB-CF —E-—F 2E)

Total assets BEEE HK$20.06 billion HK$20.45 billion Vo o19%
200.6 €T 204.5 BT

Net assets FEEE HK$9.60 billion HK$9.97 billion VvV 37%
96.0E/E T 99.718% T

Net asset value per share BRFEE HK$0.60 HK$0.60 -
0.6078 T 0.60/87T

Gearing ratio BELER 55.9% 54.6% A 13%

TECCFFR EREBEFRAA 5
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
MBRE (&)

ASSETS EMPLOYED
HRAEE

CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES
BERAR

As at 31 March 2022
RZEZ—F=A=+—H

7%

12%
7%
0
Other Operations ’ Property Property
HAh 2K Development Investment
MEEER mERE

‘ Treasury Management Cash

MAEE B

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE PARENT
BARRSRAAEGESR

HK$ million

BEAT

6,061.9 5,891.0 5,799.5

5,991.8 64381

1]

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

As at 31 March 2022
NZZE-——_F=fA=+—H

18%

18%

34% 30%

Capital and Bank and Other
Reserves Borrowings
BEARR RITREMBEE
Non-Controlling Other Liabilities
Interests HithEE
eI
GEARING RATIO
BfRLL=
Percentage
AL
55.9% 54.6% 47.7% 40.0% 25.1%
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TECICEFR EREEERAA
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EREHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”)
of Wang On Group Limited (the “Company”, stock code: 1222),
| am pleased to propose the annual chairman’s statement of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year” or the “year under
review”).

REVIEW OF THE YEAR

Driven by the relief of the pandemic due to the global
popularization of vaccination, the major economies have resumed
their commercial activities. The momentum of economic recovery
has led to a rise in the global demand for raw materials and
production materials. Hong Kong’s economy showed a clear
momentum of recovery in 2021 and the GDP in 2021 recorded
a growth of 6.4%. Benefiting from the subsidence of the local
pandemic, consumption-related activities have gradually become
active, and the electronic consumption voucher scheme launched
by the Hong Kong government has facilitated local consumption.
Local private consumption expenditure increased by 5.6% in
2021. The Hong Kong’s residential property market maintained
steady development in 2021, driven by the low interest rate
environment, strong consumer demand and the recovery of the
local economy.

However, in the first quarter of 2022, as Omicron variant of
COVID-19 entered the community, the number of confirmed
cases in Hong Kong surged, and the retail and catering industry
has been severely affected. The fifth wave of the pandemic has
created tough challenges for the business environment, resulting
in negative Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth in the first
quarter of 2022.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022

BEMURR :

RAANZERERZZEBER AR ([XRAT] - &H
R 1222) EE((EEG N [EE]) AT
UREARNGI MEKB AR (HfE [ AEME]) &
ETE-F-A=-T—HIEFEXRFE] K
[BEIEEE ) 2 FEEFERE -

FEOE

BEERKEZHEASEEBSRIBEER £
ERERSUEMEERE - KBREENT
BIRIKEH AN REEMEFTRK LA - BBLE
RZZTZ—FEHEZERE — T —F i
EEBRES6.4%IER - SBRARME ER
ROBBEBEEDER - N EEBBTHE

BEFHEEBESFTSBMREAREE - KNihAL
ABEBRYE-_E-—FHREES6%-° £
RERIR - ARTREY RAH LB RS
T BANEEVMETSE S —FINHER
BREER -

N BAZZE__FEST  BEERNTER
FOmicronZIEHAR » BB LEAE KR L
o EEERTEXIBREFTE - T AHME
RAREET  “HREEEREKE - ©=F
TCFEFAHMAESERRAEER -



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FRHE (&)

REVIEW OF THE YEAR (continued)

During the year under review, most of the Group’s business
performance remained stable, and the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2022 slightly decreased by approximately
3.2% to approximately HK$1,856.0 million (2020/21:
approximately HK$1,918.3 million (restated)). However, as
the Group’s reduction in the number of properties delivered
affected the performance of its property segment, and the
investment-related business was affected by the unfavorable
market environment, the Group recorded loss for the Year of
approximately HK$252.8 million (2020/21: profit for the year
of approximately HK$101.8 million). As at 31 March 2022, the
Group’s net assets were approximately HK$9,599.8 million (31
March 2021: approximately HK$9,969.0 million). Its cash and
short-term realisable investments amounted to approximately
HK$1,962.8 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$2,471.9
million), of which, cash and bank balances were approximately
HK$1,489.9 million (31 March 2021: approximately HK$1,730.3
million). The overall gearing ratio remained healthy at
approximately 55.9%.

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

The property development segment of the Group mainly includes
Hong Kong residential and commercial property business of
Wang On Properties Limited (“WOP”, stock code: 1243), a non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group; and the property sales in
China Agri-Products Exchange Limited (“CAP”, stock code: 149),
a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

In recent years, WOP has been strengthening its cooperation
with other developers and enterprises to jointly develop various
property projects to realize the accelerated expansion of the
property portfolio through an asset-light operation model. During
the year, the units of “maya”, a project located at Yau Tong co-
developed by WOP and CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI”)
and the residential project, “Altissimo” co-developed by the
WOP, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited and China
State Construction International Holdings Limited, have been
Substantially sold.

WOP actively identified acquisitions of old buildings to replenish its
land bank. Following the successful acquisition of the land at No.
120 to 126 Main Street, Ap Lei Chau in 2020, WOP acquired old
buildings for project reconstruction in areas such as Ap Lei Chau,
Wong Tai Sin and Ngau Tau Kok through its project acquisition
model during the Year.

-—
Lo e o

FE@EE)

REIEEFE @ #ARNEBE T KIBHEBRR
REBT BE_ZT-_—_F=ZA=+—HItFE
2 W AR B 493.2% = 491,856,000,000 7 7T (=
T-T ——FE: 41,918300,0005 T (&
7)) BERRAEBRLO RN MESS T EME
%ﬁ%iﬁ BB BEERZETESNTFIR
BRE  BRAFEEEAY 252,800,000 7T
_g_g/ —FE  FEEFIZ 101,800,000
BIL) c R_ZE_—_F=A=+—8" zlxﬁlé‘
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=+—0 : #79,969,000,000;87T) © HIE4 NG
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
N FEHRE (F)

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

In November 2021, WOP and Stichting Depositary APG Strategic
Real Estate Pool (*APG”) formed a joint venture to jointly develop
multiple urban redevelopment projects. The cooperation with APG
has brought opportunities for WOP to accelerate its development
through the asset-light model. With knowledge and expertise of
WORP in property acquisition and project management, together
with APG’s rich investment experience, and third-party funds,
WOP can participate in more project development.

During the year under review, WOP continued to cooperate
with third parties through joint ventures to expand its property
investment portfolio. WOP and three senior investors formed a
joint venture, the “Parkville JV” in June last year to acquire the
shops of the Parkville in Tuen Mun. It also joined with Jumbo
Holding (BVI) L.P. (“dumbo Holding”) to acquire eight stories
of carpark podium of Jumbo Court in Aberdeen. The above
properties will be refurbished to effectively improve rental returns
and capital appreciation. The Group has gradually expanded
its property investment portfolio to effectively enhance its stable
recurring cashflow.

As at the date of this annual report, there were two retail mall
projects, namely “Lake Silver” and “The Parkside”, jointly invested
and operated by the Group and Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P.
(“KKR”), one of the largest investment companies in the United
States. Lake Silver were fully let and the occupancy rate of The
Parkside was over 85%, which provided stable rental income to
the Group.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FRHE (&)

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

Apart from the real estate business, the current treasury
management business of the Group involves the financing,
investment of debt and other securities which earn interest
income and asset management. As at 31 March 2022, the
bond investment performance of the Group was affected by the
unfavorable environment of China’s high-yield bond market, which
resulted in an increase in unrealized bond investment impairment
loss as compared with 31 March 2021. Therefore, in order to
effectively control risks and maintain healthy liquidity, the Group
has sold some of its bonds to maintain a strong financial position.
Liquid investments amounted to approximately HK$940.0 million
as at 31 March 2022, represented a decrease of approximately
28.0% from the balance of approximately HK$1,305.0 million
as at 31 March 2021. The liquid investments represented
approximately 31.1% of the debt securities, approximately 22.6%
of equity securities and approximately 46.3% of funds and other
investment.

The business of fresh markets and agricultural produce exchange
markets is an important part of the comprehensive supply chain
of food and agricultural and by-produce built by the Group.
CAP is engaged in the business of agricultural and by-product
exchange market, with a nationwide chain of wholesale markets
and a network of modern agricultural produce logistics center
covering densely populated areas in southern, central and
northern regions in the PRC. During the year under review, CAP
managed a total of 11 agricultural produce exchange markets in
mainland China. During the Year, the Group has upgraded the
facilities and fixtures of all agricultural produce exchange markets
to meet the requirements of the stringent health and hygiene
measures imposed by the local governments, which enhanced
the competitive edges of the Group. With the easing of the
pandemic situation, the sales and operations of the agricultural
produce exchange markets can return to normal levels and better
adapt to the post-pandemic market environment. In 2021, Wuhan
Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product Exchange Market was
awarded as the “Top 10 of agricultural produce exchange market
in China” by the China Agricultural Wholesale Market Association.

-—
Lo e o
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
N FEHRE (F)

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

During the pandemic period, the Group actively responded to the
relevant pandemic prevention measures in accordance with the
working system and the requirements of the government through
tightened market entry inspections, more frequent site-wide
environmental disinfection and strengthened pandemic prevention
and control publicity. The market strictly conducted pandemic
prevention and control works, including pandemic prevention
and control contingency plans, non-local vehicle admission
registration, employee temperature detection, market disinfection,
and weekly nucleic acid testing of market staff. It resolutely
implemented various pandemic prevention measures, stabilized
market operations, and made every effort to ensure the daily
supply of agricultural products in the cities where the markets
were located.

The Group operates a portfolio of approximately 600 stalls in
Hong Kong under the brands of “Allmart” and “Day Day Fresh”.
In mainland China, the Group manages the operation of 16 fresh
markets under the “Huimin” brand. During the pandemic period,
the Group enhanced the anti-pandemic measures and cleaning
and disinfection in markets and facilities, strictly controlled the
hygiene conditions of the markets, and minimized the risk of virus
transmission, so as to protect the health and safety of merchants
and citizens.

During the Year, the Group accelerated the introduction of fast
and simple electronic payment methods for merchants in our fresh
markets to provide a variety of payment options. The electronic
payment methods not only make shopping and payment
more convenient, but also improve the operational efficiency of
merchants. Especially during the pandemic, the application of
electronic payment system could make consumers feel more
hygienic and safer when making payments. Besides, the first
round of consumption vouchers distributed by the Hong Kong
government in August 2021 drove more consumers to pay with
electronic currency.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

FEHRE () P

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Holdings Limited ("WYT”, stock
code: 897), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group is
principally engaged in the development, processing and retail of
pharmaceutical and healthcare products. Its retail outlets in Hong
Kong own a team of experienced Chinese medicine practitioners
recognised by Chinese Medicine Council of Hong Kong. The
first WYT franchise store in Macau officially opened in January
2022, which enhanced the awareness of the WYT brand among
Macau customers and helped to speed up WYT’s penetration
into Macau market. As at 31 March 2022, we had 75 retail outlets
in Hong Kong and Macau, some of which owned a team of
Chinese medicine practitioners and provided outpatient service.
In the first three quarters of the year under review, Hong Kong’s
economic market has gradually recovered with the easing of the
COQOVID-19 pandemic. Electronic consumption vouchers issued
by the government have also stimulated retail consumption. Even
in the last quarter of the year under review, WYT still recorded a
moderate year-on-year growth of the total revenue.

In the past two years, affected by the pandemic control measures,
the number of inbound tourists has dropped significantly. The
Group adjusted its business strategy timely, further developed
its e-commerce market business, and effectively expanded
its cross-border sales platform. The public’s health awareness
has increased since the outbreak of the severe fifth wave of the
pandemic, and more people chose to take some preventive
Chinese medicines to protect themselves against the pandemic,
which has increased the market demand for Chinese medicines
and health care products.

The management team of WYT has been keeping abreast of
the times and grasped the keys to promote business growth. In
recent years, it has actively developed pet wellness products,
which have gradually become one of the Company’s stable
revenue sources.

:

PRCEE)
s e 0 e e
.

EBRE (H)

EEETHEEMB AR T EEEILR AR
AR E ]| R : 897) EBREH
& NMIEKTEERMRREER  EENTE
ERBERETEHAEEZESRIRERE
EMFREAMEK - RPIMERMTEMBRER
T F-ADERMAE  ERARMER
HUTERBORAE - BRINRATE LR
FITIZMEE RZTE-__F=A=+—81"
NITERMESREPIMHMMNTEEL75MH -
HoZBEPEEKKFIZRS - ERBEFERN
A=ZFE  BAKLEMERTBEBEMNT
FTEFORE - BFELENEFEHESERH
TEHEBNRT —ERIKIEA - #AFEERIEF
EHmE—FRBRE  AITEMNBKARLLAD
RSB R o

RBEMFHE ZXRBEEHFRTE - ABIK
YN - ONUEIN RN ST BEE  g
MARMEBMISEY - ARBEFERNER
HETE - ERNAHMERRRBERER - TR
BEEHSRES EZEERA -LEBEHES
B PHTURIE - SIS EMEERER
R SREETT ©

13 7T & A & 3 [ PR DA B AR O 3 1 B AR - HTUE (R
EXEROBRIER  OFBEEHHEEDR
RER ZERRCEHRBLREP—ER
fREYHATIR

SEoCEER  AREEER

5>
Bl

13



14

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
N FEHRE (F)

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

The pandemic has changed consumer behaviour. Global
consumers spend more time using communities and online
shopping, and consumers’ attention to physical shopping has
gradually shifted to e-commerce platforms. The Group will focus
on developing the arrangement of online sales channels, flexibly
adjust WYT’s retail stores and offline sales channels, and continue
to boost efforts to operate and develop online business. As for
products under the brand of “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”
produced by WYT’s self-owned factory in Yuen Long, advanced
technology and facilities are adopted to efficiently produce a
variety of proprietary Chinese medicines. The Group will continue
its research and development of TCM diagnosis and core medical
solution products to expand the market of different products.

During the year under review, in addition to continuing to
organize and support various social welfare activities, we paid
more attentions to the needs of grassroots residents during the
pandemic. To help vulnerable groups and fully support the anti-
pandemic work, the Group donated HK$3.0 million to the “Hong
Kong Community Anti-Coronavirus Link” during the fifth wave
of the pandemic to facilitate the launch of “Fight Virus Together,
We Care - Support People under Home Quarantine”. In order
to contribute to the social anti-pandemic work, the Group has
also worked with regional organizations and the Home Affairs
Department to distribute anti-pandemic materials to the Hong
Kong citizens in need timely, so that they could receive support as
soon as possible.

In addition, WOP actively communicated with various institutions,
regional organizations and social enterprises during the pandemic
to understand the needs of all parties and provided appropriate
financial support and material donations to help the community
fight the pandemic together. WOP and WYT jointly helped to fight
the pandemic with Chinese medicines by donating anti-pandemic
materials and WYT health care products to the Hong Kong New
Arrivals Services Foundation Limited to help those in urgent
needs.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EREHE (FE)

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

WYT also responded quickly to the needs of the public. In the
early stage of the fifth wave of the pandemic, WYT donated
7,000 tablets of Angong Niuhuang Wan and 100,000 packets
of anti-infection tea to patients in need from all walks of life in
the community through various networks, aiming to fight the
pandemic together with the public.

For more details of the environmental, social and governance
work done by the Group during the Year, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be issued.

LOOKING AHEAD

The complex and volatile international geopolitical and economic
environment as well as the recurrent COVID-19 outbreaks,
make it difficult for corporate decision makers to make accurate
and scientific forecasts for business for the financial year. The
conflict between Russia and Ukraine has not only intensified the
international tension, but also largely disrupted the global energy
and food supply system. On the other hand, the impact of the
US’s entry to the rate hike cycle on the economic development is
yet unknown. In the current financial year, the Group will continue
to adopt a prudent financial management strategy and strive to
maintain sufficient cash flow.

As for the real estate market, due to the support of huge rigid
demand, the sales of new properties, especially small-sized
houses, are expected to have certain market acceptance. In
the future, the Group will continue to cooperate with different
business partners and give full play to its brand advantages and
commercial property asset management expertise to enhance
the recurring income source. The Group will continue to identify
investment properties with strong income potential, so as to
strengthen its recurring cash flow.
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE (continued)

As for the retail market, it is expected that the stimulus of the
new round of electronic consumption vouchers and the easing
of social distancing measures will help accelerate the recovery of
retail consumption. On the other hand, the recurrent pandemic
situation in mainland China makes it difficult to significantly ease
the pandemic prevention and control measures in the short term.
Therefore, the Group’s business in mainland China still needs
to closely comply with relevant national policies. The Group will
continue to optimize the management of venues of its fresh
markets and agricultural produce markets in mainland China and
strengthen the coordination with the logistics and distribution
system, to serve local communities more effectively.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude
to our shareholders, customers and business partners for their
firm support for the Group over the years. | hereby also thank
the members of the Board, the management and all employees
for their unremitting and concerted efforts to create synergy and
contribute to maintaining the stable development of the Group.

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEBNmED

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s
revenue and loss attributable to owners of the parent amounted
to approximately HK$1,856.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,918.3 million (restated)) and loss of approximately
HK$305.2 million (2021: profit of approximately HK$123.9 million),
respectively.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
(2021: recommend a final dividend of HKO0.2 cent per share)
for the year ended 31 March 2022 to the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”). Together with the interim dividend of HKO.1
cent (30 September 2020: HKO.1 cent) per ordinary share, the
total dividends for the year ended 31 March 2022 will be HKO.1
cent (2021: HKO.3 cent) per ordinary share.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
decreased by approximately 3.2% to approximately HK$1,856.0
million (2021: approximately HK$1,918.3 million (restated)). The
revenue remained stable as compared to last financial year. Loss
for the year was approximately HK$252.8 million (2021: profit
for the year of approximately HK$101.8 million), representing a
turnaround from profit to loss over last year, mainly due to, among
other things, (i) an increase in realised losses on disposal of debts
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income,
and an increase in impairment losses of debts instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive income, (i) a decrease
in share of profit from joint ventures of the property development
sector, (iii) the absence of subsidies for the year ended 31
March 2022 from the Employment Support Scheme under Anti-
Epidemic Fund established by the Hong Kong government,
as partly offset by the absence of the write-down of properties
held for sale when compared to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
loss attributable to owners of the parent was approximately
HK$305.2 million (2021: profit of approximately HK$123.9 million).
The Group continues to maintain a strong financial position. As
of 31 March 2022, the Group’s net assets were approximately
HK$9,599.8 million (2021: approximately HK$9,969.0 million).
Its cash resources amounted to approximately HK$1,962.8
million (2021: approximately HK$2,471.9 million) including cash
and bank balances of approximately HK$1,489.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$1,730.3 million) and short-term investments of
approximately HK$472.9 million (2021: approximately HK$741.6
million). In aggregate, the total borrowings as of 31 March 2022
was approximately HK$6,859.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$7,172.0 million) giving the Group a net debt position (total
borrowings less cash and bank balances) of approximately
HK$5,369.7 million (2021: approximately HK$5,441.7 million). The
review of the individual business segments of the Group is set out
below.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022

o (&)

£ 6

REEHEZT-_—_F=-A=1+—HIEFEZ
U AR D #93.2% = #91,856,000,000%8 7T ( =
T — —4F : #71,918,300,000/8 7T (&£ EFI|)) °

qy)\ﬁit1.ﬁﬁﬁkirtt?1%?—r%ﬂi o FAEIE
A #9252,800,0008 T(ZE=—F : F @
F#7101,800,0008 7L ) - BMEFHBEE -
TEAR(EFER) BEAEEHEE_T=—
FZA=T—BLHFENGEMBMERLE

WHEZEAFEFABEMEEKRIEI ZER
TAEEEEBEBRENRZAFEFAEMS

MWz EE TR ZRMERBEEN: ()oD1h
MERBEDHENELELERFRD  (iEE

ZEZZF=A=T—HIEFEITERIIR
BEREABRNRIOMENEESE TR
¥R mey - B HE BT ETH
FELEMEMBHE  BRARERIEBEAR
16 &5 18 /& #9305,200,0008 7T ( — & = — 4 -
ﬁﬂ%m%mmm%ﬁ)wkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BEMMBERRL - RZEZZF=A=+—
e $%@§E@@ﬁm%%mwm%
(= ZF = —F: 49,969,000,000/%& JT ) °
H IR 4 &R E 41,962,800,000/8 £ = &

- — F: iﬁ2471 ,900,0007% JT ) B F IR
% K iR 17 45 8 491,489,900,00078 T ( = &
- — %@1,730,300,000,% T ) MR

& #)472,900,0008 w( = T = — F: 4
741 ,600,000/87C) c R-ZE-—F=ZHA=+—

- BE B 4 ££496,859,600,0008 T ( =&
——E #97,172,000,0007% 7T ) + < AN & &
E 4 #5,369,700,0008 L ( Z T = — F : 4
5,441,700,000 70 ) 2 &7 558 (BB ENRIR
©RIRTTER) - AEEERESSEEERT
XEF o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The property development segment consists of the Hong Kong
residential and commercial property market sales from Wang On
Properties Limited (“WOP”, a non-wholly owned listed subsidiary
of the Company and the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with
stock code: 1243, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“WOP Group”); and the property sales in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), following the acquisition in February 2020
of a controlling interest in China Agri-Products Exchange Limited
(“CAP”, a non-wholly owned listed subsidiary of the Company and
the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange with stock
code: 149, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “CAP
Group”) (the “CAP Acquisition”) by Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (“WYT”, a non-wholly owned listed subsidiary
of the Company and the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange with stock code: 897, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “WYT Group”).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, property development
segment recorded revenue and segment profit of approximately
HK$418.6 million and approximately HK$198.8 million,
respectively (2021: approximately HK$534.4 million and
approximately HK$486.9 million (restated), respectively). No
revenue in this segment was contributed by the WOP Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 because there is no
delivery of property development projects in which the Group has
a controlling stake during the year. Instead, revenue and profit
from property sales for the WOP Group in this financial year were
generated only from two jointly developed property projects,
namely maya and Altissimo, and the share of sales recognition of
the remaining units of these two projects during the financial year
amounted to HK$858.7 million (2021: HK$3,343.8 million). During
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s property development
business in the PRC (through the CAP Group) recorded revenue
of approximately HK$418.6 million (2021: HK$233.2 million). The
increase in revenue contributed from the CAP Group is mainly due
to the delivery of more properties during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

maya

“maya” is located at No. 8 Shung Shan Street and No. 15 Sze
Shan Street, Yau Tong. This residential project is co-developed by
the WOP Group and CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (“CIFI”). The
WOP Group holds a 50% stake in the project and is responsible
for project management. 323 out of 326 units have been sold
with an aggregated contracted sales amounted to approximately
HK$4.2 billion as at the date of this annual report.

Altissimo

The residential project, Altissimo, located at No. 11 Yiu Sha
Road, Ma On Shan, is co-developed by the WOP Group, Country
Garden Holdings Company Limited and China State Construction
International Holdings Limited, and has been delivered to buyers
since the fourth quarter of 2020. 528 out of 547 units have
been sold with an aggregated contracted sales amounted to
approximately HK$6.2 billion as at the date of this annual report.
The WOP Group owns 40% equity interest in this property
development project.

Pokfulam Project

In April 2018, the WOP Group completed the acquisition of all
16 properties located at Nos. 86A-86D Pokfulam Road, Hong
Kong. The site will be redeveloped into luxurious properties and
is undergoing the foundation work. The WOP Group owns 70%
equity interest in this property development project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development (continued)
The Met. Azure (Tsing Yi residential project)

The WOP Group’s new residential property in Liu To Road and
Hang Mei Street, Tsing Yi (Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 192) namely, The
Met. Azure, was launched in August 2021. Approximately 80%
of the units are studio flats and the others are one-bedroom and
special units. 280 out of 320 units released have been sold with
contracted sales of approximately HK$1.4 billion. The units are
expected to be delivered in the second half of 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Ap Lei Chau Project |

In July 2020, the WOP Group has successfully acquired a new
redevelopment site located at Nos. 120-126, Main Street, Ap
Lei Chau. The site is adjacent to Lei Tung MTR Station. The
total attributable gross floor area (“GFA”) upon redevelopment is
approximately 37,100 square feet. Foundation work is currently
undergoing at the site. The project was transferred to a joint
venture during this financial year. Please refer to the section
headed “Formation of joint venture and disposal of interest of
certain projects to the joint venture” for details.

Ap Lei Chau Project Il

In June 2021, the WOP Group has successfully completed the
acquisition of the full ownership of a site located at Nos. 34 and
36 Main Street, Ap Lei Chau, and Nos. 5, 7 and 9 Wai Fung
Street, Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong. The site area and gross floor
area is approximately 4,100 square feet and 38,500 square feet,
respectively. This project will be redeveloped as part of “The Met.”
series and the demolition work is now underway. The project was
transferred to a joint venture during this financial year. Please refer
to the section headed “Formation of joint venture and disposal of
interest of certain projects to the joint venture” of this “Management
Discussion and Analysis” for details.

Wong Tai Sin Project |

In September 2021, the WOP Group successfully completed
the acquisition of a site located at Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung Street,
Wong Tai Sin through compulsory sales. The site area and gross
floor area are approximately 9,600 square feet and 81,000 square
feet, respectively. This project will be redeveloped as part of
“The Met.” series and the demolition work is now underway. The
project was transferred to a joint venture during this financial year.
Please refer to the section headed “Formation of joint venture and
disposal of interest of certain projects to the joint venture” of this
“Management Discussion and Analysis” for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Wong Tai Sin Project Il

In February 2022, the WOP Group has acquired full ownership
of the site located at Nos. 31-41, Fei Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin,
Kowloon through compulsory sales. It will be redeveloped with the
adjacent site, No. 45 Fei Fung Street and 110 Shatin Pass Road,
as one of “The Met.” series. The total site area and gross floor
area are approximately 10,400 square feet and 93,700 square
feet, respectively. The demolition work is now underway. The
project was transferred to a joint venture during this financial year.
Please refer to the section headed “Formation of joint venture and
disposal of interest of certain projects to the joint venture” of this
“Management Discussion and Analysis” for details.

Fortress Hill Project

In October 2020, the WOP Group and CIFI formed a new joint
venture, in which CIFI and the WOP Group owned 60% and 40%
equity interest, respectively. The joint venture has acquired 101
and 111 King’s Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong for a total sum
of HK$1.88 billion. The total site area is approximately 12,400
square feet and the sites are situated between North Point
commercial area and Victoria Park in Causeway Bay. The sites
are positioned at a convenient location within only a few minutes’
walk to the Fortress Hill MTR Station. The sites are planned to be
redeveloped into a residential project with commercial space. This
project is in demolition stage.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Tai Kok Tsui Project

In January 2021, the WOP Group has successfully completed the
acquisition of the site located at 50-62 Larch Street and 6-8 Lime
Street, Tai Kok Tsui through compulsory sales. The gross floor
area is approximately 61,500 square feet and the site is currently
under foundation work. This project will be redeveloped as part of
“The Met.” series. The pre-sales are expected to be commenced
in the third quarter of 2022.

Ngau Tau Kok Project

In February 2022, the WOP Group has also completed the
acquisition of the site located at Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and 24
Ting Yip Street, Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong, with a total
gross floor area of approximately 46,000 square feet. This project
will be redeveloped as part of “The Met.” series. The demoilition
work will commence in the third quarter of 2022. The project
was transferred to a joint venture subsequent to the end of this
financial year. Please refer to the section headed “Formation of
joint venture and disposal of interest of certain projects to the joint
venture” of this “Management Discussion and Analysis” for details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Formation of joint venture and disposal of interest of
certain projects to the joint venture

In November 2021, the WOP Group entered into a subscription
and shareholders’ agreement (the “Transaction”) with the
Stichting Depositary APG Strategic Real Estate Pool (“APG
Partner”). After the subscription of share, a new joint venture
company (the “APG JV”) is formed to engage in acquisition
of residential properties in Hong Kong for development and
redevelopment for sales. The WOP Group has subscribed for a
50% equity interest in the APG JV with a maximum total capital
commitment of HK$2,334 million. The APG JV is accounted for as
a 50% jointly-controlled entity of the WOP Group and its financial
results are equity accounted for in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. The WOP Group considers the cooperation
with the APG Partner presents a good opportunity to leverage on
the WOP Group’s knowledge and expertise in property acquisition
and project management and to partner with an experienced
investor to expand the business. Four wholly-owned projects of
the WOP Group, namely (i) Nos.120-126, Main Street, Ap Lei
Chau, (i) Nos. 34 and 36 Main Street, Ap Lei Chau, and Nos. 5,
7 and 9 Wai Fung Street, Ap Lei Chau, (jii) Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung
Street, Wong Tai Sin, and (iv) Nos. 31-41 and 45, Fei Fung Street,
Wong Tai Sin, and 110 Shatin Pass Road, Wong Tai Sin, were sold
to the APG JV before the end of this financial year. Such disposals
constituted a very substantial disposal of the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and they were approved
by the shareholders of the Company in December 2021. Further
details of such disposals were set out in the Company and WOP’s
joint announcement and the circular of the Company dated 8
November 2021 and 8 December 2021, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Formation of joint venture and disposal of interest of
certain projects to the joint venture (continued)

In February 2022, City Arise Limited (“City Arise”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the WOP Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”)
with the APG JV to sell the entire issued share capital and
shareholder’s loan of True Promise Limited (“True Promise”) at
a consideration of approximately HK$490.7 million. True Promise
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the WOP Group and the sole
owner of the site located at Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and 24 Ting
Yip Street, Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon. On 11 April 2022, City Arise
entered into a supplemental agreement with the APG JV and
Delight Venture Limited (“Delight Venture”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the APG JV to amend and supplement the Sale
and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the APG JV agreed
to novate and Delight Venture agreed to assume all rights and
obligations of the APG JV in and under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement. Please refer to the Company and WOP’s joint
announcement dated 18 February 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 20 April 2022 for details. This transaction was
completed on 11 May 2022.

Other projects

The WOP Group is currently in possession of several urban
redevelopment projects with over 80% ownerships secured.
Applications to the court are being made in respect of all these
projects for compulsory sale orders under the Land (Compulsory
Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance (Chapter 545 of the Laws
of Hong Kong). In the event that no court order is granted, the
WOP Group may not be able to complete the consolidation of
the ownership for redevelopment. Redevelopment can only be
implemented upon acquisition of the full ownership of the relevant
projects. The total attributable GFA upon redevelopment is
approximately 334,000 square feet.

All the development projects are financed by both external
banking facilities and internal resources.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
B E &Y B2

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Other projects (continued)

As at 28 June 2022, the WOP Group had a development land
portfolio in Hong Kong (which is being held through the WOP

o (58)
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REWERER

BECBERAMWAS CERRLHESERE)

Group) as follows: W
Anticipated
Approximate Approximate year of
Project site area gross floor area Intended usage Completion
BA BH
EE WREE BREEE BERR BARIEE
(square feet) (square feet)
(‘FZR) (‘FZR)
Pokfulam Project 28,500 28,500 Residential 2023
SEHRMIER FE —T=F
The Met. Azure 14,400 90,000 Residential and Commercial 2022
(Tsing Yi residential project) FEkEE —EoCF
EE (ERETER)
Ap Lei Chau Project | 3,600 37,100 Residential and Commercial 2024
BERFIMIE R | FEREE —ToMEF
Ap Lei Chau Project |l 4,100 38,500 Residential and Commercial 2025
BERRIMIE R I FEREE “TCRF
Tai Kok Tsui Project 6,800 61,500 Residential and Commercial 2024
KAEHEER FEREE —ToMEF
Wong Tai Sin Project | 9,600 81,000 Residential and Commercial 2025
BEAMERI FEREE “TCRF
Wong Tai Sin Project |l 10,400 93,700 Residential and Commercial 2025
BAMEERN FEREE “TCRF
Ngau Tau Kok Project 5,200 46,000 Residential and Commercial 2025
45EAIEA FEREE “TCRF
Fortress Hill Project 12,400 129,400 Residential and Commercial 2026
1BALIER FEMEE ZERRF
—ECCEER EREEERAT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The fresh market and agricultural produce exchange market
business segment recorded an increase in revenue by
approximately 3.3% to approximately HK$676.1 million for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: approximately HK$654.5 million),
of which annual revenue of approximately HK$417.3 million was
contributed from the operation of agricultural produce exchange
markets of the CAP Group in the PRC; approximately HK$192.9
million was contributed from the fresh market operations in Hong
Kong and revenue streams brought by butchery, vegetable and
other retails in Hong Kong of approximately HK$65.9 million. The
increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the appreciation
of Renminbi (“RMB”) against Hong Kong dollar during the year
ended 31 March 2022 and the CAP’s produce exchange markets
(in particular the Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural and By-Product
Exchange Market (the “Wuhan Baisazhou Market”)) have been
restored and rebounded from the effect of COVID-19 pandemic
situation during the year ended 31 March 2022. Moreover,
there was expiry of leases in respect of certain Hong Kong fresh
markets, namely King Lam, Lei Tung and Lei On, during this
financial year have partly offset the increase in revenue. Segment
result recorded a profit of approximately HK$53.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$24.8 million) for the year ended 31 March
2022.

The Group’s fresh market and agricultural produce exchange
market business has been built over the past two decades.
During the financial year, the Group managed a substantial
portfolio of approximately 600 stalls under the “Allmart” brand and
“Day Day Fresh” brands of fresh markets in Hong Kong with a
GFA of over 150,000 square feet. In order to meet rising customer
expectation, the Group strives to offer a more comfortable and
spacious shopping environment through well-designed layouts,
enhancement works and high-quality management services. The
Group will continue to strengthen the partnership with its tenants
and local communities by launching effective marketing and
promotion events, and thereby improving shopping experiences at
its fresh markets. The Group continued to locate high population
density areas to set up fresh markets and mini fresh markets.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In February 2021, Wang On Majorluck Limited (the “Operator”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, received
a letter from the Hong Kong Housing Authority indicating its
agreement to lease a tender of proposal in respect of a fresh
market located at G/F, Choi Fook Estate Phase 3, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an area under the lease of approximately 12,196
square feet to the Operator. The fresh market commenced its
operation in September 2021.

In April 2022, the Group was informed by the Link Properties
Limited, the landlord of the fresh market located at the first floor
of the Choi Ming Shopping Centre, Choi Ming Court, 1 Choi Ming
Street, Tseung Kwan O, Sai Kung, New Territories, Hong Kong,
their agreement to renewal the market for a term of three (3) years
commencing and including 8 December 2021. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 14 April 2022 for details.

In May 2022, the Operator received a letter from the Hong
Kong Housing Authority indicating that the Hong Kong Housing
Authority agrees to lease a tender of proposal in respect of a
fresh market located at B1/F, Kai Chuen Shopping Centre, Kai
Chuen Court, Wong Tai Sin, Hong Kong with an area under lease
of approximately 1,282 square metres to the Operator. The fresh
market will commence its operation in the second half of 2022.
Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 24 May 2022
for details.

Along with the existing fresh market and agricultural produce
exchange market business on a stable footing, the Group
commenced building a portfolio of self-owned fresh markets in
Hong Kong through joint ventures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In May 2019 and July 2019, joint ventures with Kohlberg Kravis
Roberts & Co. L.P. (‘KKR”) participated by the WOP Group have
successfully acquired a retail podium located at Lake Silver in Ma
On Shan and a commercial accommodation at The Parkside in
Tseung Kwan O respectively. The WOP Group has 50% equity
interest in each project. The Group has refurbished part of these
properties as fresh markets and taken up the management
of the properties under the brand “Day Day Fresh”. The fresh
markets have been operating since May 2020 and January 2020
respectively. The Group is confident that its expertise in property
investment and fresh market operation shall deliver strong synergy
to create unique business value to fuel further growth in this
segment.

The Group’s butchery business continued to have a strong
cash flow and steady operating profit. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the butchery business generated revenue of
approximately HK$58.4 million (2021: approximately HK$77.3
million). The reduction in revenue was mainly due to the easing of
the COVID-19 pandemic situation and more dining-out activities
during the financial year which reduced domestic consumption of
meat. The Group believes that the demand for pork in local diets,
combined with the Group’s well established fresh market network,
can allow for rapid growth and a relatively low-risk development
for this business. The Group’s target is to continuously expand its
butchery business and optimising the operation platform of fresh
market and butchery business so as to maximise synergies. As at
31 May 2022, 15 butchery stores were in operation.

During the year, the Group had extended its retail business to fruit
and vegetables retailing by partnered up with different operators.
The revenue so far is insignificant but the Group considered it is a
rapid growing business after the setting up of the platforms.

In mainland China, the Group operates the fresh market business
through its joint venture under the “Huimin” brand in various
districts in Shenzhen, Guangdong Province. The joint venture
currently manages a portfolio of approximately 800 stalls with a
GFA of approximately 265,000 square feet, in which approximately
166,000 square feet are owned by the joint venture.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Following the issuance of urban redevelopment policy by the
Shenzhen Government, some of the fresh markets may be
affected. Nevertheless, there will be negotiations between local
developers and the fresh markets operators for compensation
as well as relocation for continued operations. The Group will
continue to closely monitor the latest development, particularly the
impact on the land use rights of its fresh market properties.

The Group, through CAP, operates 11 agricultural produce
exchange markets across five provinces in the PRC. The
acquisition of these agricultural product exchange markets
expanded significantly the Group’s presence in the fresh market
and agricultural produce exchange markets segment in the PRC.
The CAP Group operates various agricultural produce exchange
markets in Hubei Province, Henan, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region, Jiangsu Province and Liaoning Province of the PRC.
During the Year, COVID-19 epidemic rebounded but did not cause
significant impacts on the operation of our agricultural produce
exchange markets and the markets were able to continue its
normal operation. Our markets could reach the strict hygienic
requirements imposed by the local authorities.

It is worth noting that Wuhan Baisazhou Market, being one of
the agricultural produce exchange operations of the CAP Group,
is one of the largest agricultural produce exchange operators in
the PRC. Wuhan Baisazhou Market is situated in the Hongshan
District of Wuhan City with a site area of approximately 310,000
square metres and is one of the most notable agricultural produce
exchange markets in Hubei Province. In 2021, Wuhan Baisazhou
Market was awarded top 10 of agricultural produce exchange
markets in the PRC by China Agricultural Wholesale Market
Association.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group owned investment properties in
Hong Kong comprised of commercial, industrial and residential
units with a total carrying value of approximately HK$534.2 million
(2021 approximately HK$1,057.6 million).

During the financial year, the Group received gross rental income
of approximately HK$16.7 million (2021: approximately HK$48.7
million).

In June 2021, the WOP Group and three independent third
parties formed a new joint venture group (the “Parkville JV”), of
which the WOP Group owns 64% of equity interest. The other
three partners are independent third parties to the Group and alll
their ultimate beneficial owners are experienced investors, namely
Mr. Chiu Lon Ronald, Mr. Bryan Taft Southergill and Mr. Choi,
Raymond Yat-Hong. The Parkville JV acquired 11 shop units and
certain lift, lift lobby(ies) and staircase(s) on the ground floor and
the first floor of THE PARKVILLE, No.88 Tuen Mun Heung Sze
Wui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories (the “Parkville Property”)
for a consideration of HK$300.0 million. The Parkville Property
has a total gross floor area of 13,858 square feet and is situated
at Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui Road intersecting Luk Yuen Road.
It enjoys excellent traffic access from one of the busiest roads
with well-developed neighborhood. The only 3-minute walk from
Tuen Mun MTR Station, Tuen Mun Light Rail Station, Tuen Mun
commercial centre, transportation hub with cross border coach
terminal and the affiliated large scale shopping mall via footbridge
further brings vibrancy and creates prosperity around the property.
The Parkville JV will further refurbish the Parkville Property to
optimise the tenant mix and rental income and is expected to
broaden its prospect and thus, increase the future rental value,
thereby enhancing the future capital appreciation. Details of this
transaction are set out in the joint announcements published by
the Company and WOP dated 30 March 2021 and 21 June 2021,
respectively.

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In September 2021, the WOP Group partnered with an
independent third party, Jumbo Holding (BVI) L.P. (“dJumbo
Holding”), to form a joint venture in which the WOP Group owns
50% equity interest upon completion of share subscription by
Jumbo Holding (the “dumbo JV”), to acquire eight stories of
carpark podium of Jumbo Court, No.3 Welfare Road, Aberdeen,
Hong Kong (the “Jumbo Property”) for a consideration of
HK$410.3 million. Jumbo Holding is a limited partnership
established in the British Virgin Islands, with its general partner,
AGR X Asia Member GP, L.L.C, being managed by Angelo,
Gordon & Co, L.P. (“AG”), a well-known U.S. licensed investment
manager. The Jumbo Property provides a total of 509 car
parking spaces and is next to various major residential buildings
and private club and is about a few minutes walking distance
from the Wong Chuk Hang MTR Station. Given its proximity to
major residential developments and the MTR comprehensive
development above the Wong Chuk Hang MTR Station which
is scheduled to provide approximately 3.9 million square feet of
residential gross floor area in 5,200 units and 510,000 square feet
of retail space, it is expected that the Jumbo Property could meet
the huge demand for parking spaces once the comprehensive
development is completed in phases. The Jumbo JV will renovate
the Jumbo Property to optimise the rental return and enhance the
capital appreciation. Details of this transaction are set out in the
joint announcement published by the Company and WOP dated
23 September 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) ¥OE(E)

In July 2021, WOP and its wholly-owned subsidiary entered into
the provisional agreement in relation to the disposal of (a) the
entire issued share capital and (b) the shareholder’s loan owing by
the holding company of the office on 30th Floor, United Centre,
No. 95 Queensway, Hong Kong, at the aggregate consideration
of HK$515.0 million (subject to adjustment). The transaction
was completed in October 2021. Details of the disposal were
disclosed in the joint announcement published by the Company
and WOP dated 30 July 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 23 September 2021, respectively.

In August 2021, WOP and its wholly-owned subsidiary entered
into the sale and purchase agreement in relation to the disposal
of (i) the entire issued share capital and (ii) shareholder’s loan
owing by the holding company of the property located at Shop
D on Ground Floor, On Ning Building, Nos. 47, 51, 53 & 55,
Ma Tau Kok Road, Kowloon for the consideration of HK$72.0
million, subject to adjustment. The transaction was completed
in September 2021. Details of the disposal were disclosed in
the announcement published by the Company dated 13 August
2021.

In July 2021, a subsidiary of the WYT Group entered into a
provisional sale and purchase agreement with an independent
third party to sell the retail shop at Shop No. D on Ground Floor of
Block D, Wing Lung Building, Nos. 220-240 & 240A Castle Peak
Road at a consideration of HK$28.4 million and the transaction
was completed in November 2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group still held 9 secondhand
residential properties with valuation of approximately HK$52.3
million and the Group will continue to identify opportunities to
dispose of these secondhand residential properties.

The Group has various interests in joint ventures which are
principally engaged in property investment and property
development. To assess the recoverability of these investments,
the Group has engaged independent valuer to assess fair value of
the underlying assets. With reference to the fair value, the directors
determined that the Group’s interests in these joint ventures were
fairly stated and no impairment has to be considered.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENwED I (&

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The WYT Group is a pharmaceutical group focusing on
manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical and health
food products. The year under review was a challenging year for
the Group’s pharmaceutical and health food products segment
with revenue totaling approximately HK$538.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$474.7 million), representing an increase of
approximately 13.5%. The GDP of Hong Kong for 2021 increased
by 6.4% over 2020 and Hong Kong had seen its first positive
retail growth in early 2021 after 2 years drop since 2019. Yet the
economic recovery remained uneven. The improving trend ended
in the first quarter of 2022 when Omicron began to spread rapidly
during Chinese New Year. Nevertheless, the improving labor
market and the launch of consumption voucher scheme (“CVS”)
during the year stimulated the consumption sentiment.

Total sales of the Chinese pharmaceutical and health food products
increased by approximately 10.8% to approximately HK$497.6
million (2021: approximately HK$449.0 million). The WYT Group
continued to promote and develop a series of traditional Chinese
medicine (“TCM”) healthcare products for common diseases of
urban people. Stroke prevention supplementation is a fast growth
market in Hong Kong in which “Wai Yuen Tong” has three series
of TCM products to cover the market: namely Angong Niuhuang
Wan, Angong Zaizao Wan and Angong Jiangya Wan. The series
is registered in Hong Kong according to ancient prescriptions
or nationally recognised prescription and its whole production
process is carried out at our Good Manufacturing Practice (“GMP”)
or The Pharmaceutical Inspection Co-operation Scheme (“PIC/
§”) factory in Yuen Long, Hong Kong. In the existing pandemic
situation, Angong Niuhuang Wan is considered as good health
supplement and has become more popular in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the year, the WYT Group adopted a proactive marketing
strategy to attract more consumers to utilise their CVS for our
products. Corporate branding television advertisement, television
program interviews and infotainment have been strategically
placed to promote our largest TCM practitioner team in Hong
Kong and to build in-depth understanding on our brand. Wai Yuen
Tong’s business models to drive sales through TCM consultation
by our professional practitioners was finally proven effective
when satisfactory sales were obtained at the time Omicron hit
hard Hong Kong in February and March 2022. Such success
was also attributable to the continued efforts in supporting
traditional Chinese medical science by the PRC Government, and
the continued successful cases in curing COVID-19 patients in
Mainland hospitals.

The WYT Group targeted better cost efficiency through further
optimisation of its retail sales network and distribution channels.
By the end of the financial year, the WYT Group had 69 retail
outlets in Hong Kong, including professional Chinese medicine
clinics and outlets operate under self-operating and franchise
modes. There are 63 retail shops affiliated with Chinese medical
service as at 31 March 2022. The WYT Group also had 6
retail outlets in Macao as at 31 March 2022. The enhanced
distribution network helps strengthen the Group’s sales and
brand recognition. A strong network has been laid down for a
sustainable growth in the future. We have been moving forward
to secure trade customers portfolio that meet our key selection
criteria of financial condition and sales abilities. “Wai Yuen Tong”
brand is a reputable household name established over a century
ago. We will continue to promote our brand value to maintain a
leading market position in the Chinese pharmaceutical and health
food product markets.

Apart from focusing on the TCM core businesses, enriching
product mix on our health supplement offerings is also our primary
strategy. The WYT Group has successfully launched supplements
for pets named “PROVET” which is Hong Kong’s first-ever pet
wellness product. The development of PROVET line is greatly
welcome by the market as our supplements are manufactured
in Hong Kong and made with Chinese herbs for pets and are
tailored to their health needs and ages.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Continuous investment has been made in the diversification of
sales channels. Apart from setting up its own e-shop via website
at www.wyteshop.com (i 5H), the WYT Group participated
in the sale channel of other Hong Kong e-business website and
set-up retail outlets in Hong Kong-China cross border e-shops,
so that the Mainland customers could purchase our Hong Kong
manufactured products directly through these e-shops.

Revenue of the Western pharmaceutical and health food products
increased by approximately 60.7% to approximately HK$41.3
million (2021: approximately HK$25.7 million) and this should
be attributable to the solid foundation of the business and the
persistent efforts of the management in fending off challenges.
The WYT Group has two major product series in this segment,
namely “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s”. Madame Pearl’s is our
brand for cough syrup while Pearl’s product series comprises
MosquitOut spray, hand cream and itch-relief products. “Madame
Pearl’s” achieved championship for a consecutive of twelve years
in the sales of cough syrup in Hong Kong. The Pearl’s product
series also has established leadership in mosquito repellent
product category in Hong Kong.

During the financial year, the WYT Group placed substantial
resources in revamping its Western pharmaceutical and health
care product distribution channels in order to improve efficiency.
In order to comply with Mainland China’s relevant regulations,
the Group has engaged various local distributors to boost up the
channel penetration of the “Madame Pearl’s” and “Pearl’s” brand
into Mainland China. Moreover, in order to fulfill the sales demand,
the Group has invested substantial resources to enhance the
production capacity of Western pharmaceuticals in the WYT
Group’s PICS/S GMP accredited manufacturing factory in Yuen
Long. Our target is to uplift the current production lines to achieve
annual production capacity of 10 million bottles of cough syrup.
Moreover, the Group launched a range of hand disinfectant
product, Germsout, under the brand “Pearl’s”. This product line
consists of two antiseptic products with different alcohol-based
formulations recommended by the World Health Organisation.
Efficacy has been research-tested and is 99.9% effective in killing
bacteria. The products are manufactured under the Group PICS/S
GMP accredited manufacturing factory.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

During the financial year, the performance of the Group’s bond
investments (which are classified under financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income) was adversely
affected by the unfavorable environment and liquidity issues of
the PRC property developers which affected the high yield bond
market for these PRC property developers. As at 31 March 2022,
there was an increase in impairment losses for these unrealised
bond investment holdings as compared to 31 March 2021. Such
impairment losses were amounted to HK$215.2 million (2021:
reversal of impairment losses of HK$7.0 million). To assess the
recoverability of these bond investments, the Group has engaged
independent valuers to assess the expected credit losses of
these financial assets. With reference to the external credit ratings
and the factors specified to each investment (including their
historical and forward-looking Information) as of the reporting
date, the directors determined that the Group’s interests in these
investments were fairly stated and the impairment was considered
appropriate. Moreover, in order to manage risk and maintain
a healthy liquidity, the Group has disposed of certain bond
investments which resulted in realised losses of HK$181.6 million
(2021: gain on disposal of HK$0.4 million). Such losses were also
mainly due to the adverse market conditions of these high yield
bonds.

The Group maintains a strong financial position. Liquid
investments amounted to approximately HK$940.0 million at 31
March 2022, represented a decrease of approximately 28.0% from
the balance of approximately HK$1,305.0 million as at 31 March
2021. The liquid investments represented approximately 31.1% of
the debt securities, approximately 22.6% of equity securities, and
approximately 46.3% of funds and other investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

As part of the treasury management’s business, the Group has
provided lending to third party customers. Our secured loans are
mainly pledged by first-mortgage residential properties. Other
collaterals include commercial properties, industrial properties
and etc. All the collaterals are located in Hong Kong. The Group
has been very prudent and cautious in assessing potential loan
applications, especially amid the ambiguous economic outlook.
The Group’s credit committee are responsible for assessing and
approving loans within predetermined credit limits. The Group
has also set up credit control policy to govern the loan review and
approval processes, particularly focusing on verification of identity,
repayment ability, and the quality of the asset to be pledged. It
can ensure the Group maintains a cohesive and coordinated
approach to monitor the operation and credit risks resulted from
the lending business.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s lending
business contributed revenue of HK$61.9 million (2021: HK$67.6
million), slightly down by 8.4%, mainly due to the drop in loan
portfolio. The composition of our loan portfolio includes both
individual and corporate customers. As at 31 March 2022, we
had 51 (2021: 52) active loan accounts, gross loan balance of
which were HK$461.3 million (2021: HK$525.5 million). Secured
loans accounted for 82.9% (2021: 88.8%) while unsecured loans
accounted for 17.1% (2021: 11.2%). At 31 March 2022, in terms
of the loan balance, the top 5 customers of the money lending
business accounted for 53.9% (2021: 50.6%) of the portfolio.
The tenors of the loans ranged from 3 months to 120 months
(2021: 3 months to 120 months). The weighted-average interest
rates of secured loans were 12.9% (2021: 14.0%) per annum and
that for unsecured loans were 16.2% (2021: 15.3%) per annum.
At 31 March 2022, the loan-to-value ratio of the secured loans
was 70.3% (2021: 72.9%) per annum which the management
considered to be a safe level. Impairment losses during the year
was amounted to HK$34.3 million (2021: Reversal of impairment
loss of HK$7.4 million) and such losses related primarily to the
expected credit loss allowance arising as a result of delayed
repayment. The drop in our loan portfolio was a result of the
generic drop in demand in the market amid the pandemic, while
we were more cautious in accepting potential applications during
the risky environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Despite the uncertainties in global economy environment, the
Group is able to derive steady income from the money lending
business. The Group strives to continuously monitor and review
our clients’ circumstances, aiming to build out a healthy and
stable platform within our treasury management segment.

The Group, through WOP, commenced the provision of asset
management services since 2019 and kept on deploying
resources to strengthen the business.

The WOP Group has formed joint ventures with different strategic
partners in both residential developments and commercial
investments. By leveraging on its additional resources and
networks in Hong Kong market and the WOP Group’s expertise
in construction management and asset management, the WOP
Group also manages the assets on behalf of its capital partners of
some of these joint ventures.

As the asset manager of the invested assets, the WOP
Group earns asset management fee income, including, asset
management fees, acquisition fees, renovation management
fee, construction management fees and leasing fees, as well as
promote fees upon reaching or exceeding certain target internal
rate of return and after the joint venture partners of the WOP
Group having received their targeted capital returns. These asset
management fee income provides a stable recurring income to
the Group.

Other than managing two commercial accommodation
investments, namely Lake Silver and The Parkside, which were
co-invested with KKR in 2019, the WOP Group has been engaged
as the asset manager of the new joint ventures during the year.
Those joint ventures are the Parkville JV and the Jumbo JV. The
details of the managed assets can be referred to the section
headed “Fresh Markets and Agricultural Produce Exchange
Markets” and the section headed “Property Investment” of this
“Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The WOP Group has also partnered with APG in December
2021 for acquisition of residential properties in Hong Kong for
development and redevelopment for sales. As the asset manager,
the WOP Group involves in the site evaluation, acquisition,
construction management and sales.

During the year under review, the WOP Group recorded asset
management fee income amounted to approximately HK$30.8
million (2021: approximately HK$24.7 million). The increase
was mainly attributable to the new addition of assets under
management.

By utilising the WOP Group’s expertise in asset management, it
would seek to secure its asset management income and explore
strategic expansion opportunities for additional recurring income.

During the year, the board of directors of the Company has
resolved that additional resources would continuously be deployed
to the provision of asset management services and accordingly,
the provision of asset management services is redesignated by
the board of directors as one of the principal businesses of the
Group. The results of the provision of asset management services
are reviewed and evaluated together with treasury management
segment for management reporting purposes. Accordingly,
the presentation of segment information for the year ended 31
March 2021 has been restated to reflect this change of segment
composition.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the equity attributable to owners of the
parent decreased by approximately 6.9% to approximately
HK$5,991.8 million (2021: approximately HK$6,438.1 million).
The Group’s total equity, including the non-controlling interests,
decreased to approximately HK$9,599.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$9,969.0 million) as at 31 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(continued)

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total assets were approximately
HK$20,056.4 million (2021: approximately HK$20,445.9 million).
Total cash and bank balances held amounted to approximately
HK$1,489.9 million (2021: approximately HK$1,730.3 million) as
at 31 March 2022. The Group also maintained a portfolio of liquid
investments with an aggregate market value of approximately
HK$940.0 million (2021: approximately HK$1,305.0 million) as at
31 March 2022, which is immediately available for use when in
need.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s total debt amounted to
approximately HK$6,859.6 million (2021: approximately
HK$7,172.0 million). The Group’s net debt to equity ratio (or the
net gearing ratio) was approximately 55.9% (2021: approximately
54.6%) as at 31 March 2022.

The net debt to equity ratio (or the net gearing ratio) is calculated
as the net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as
a total of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, unsecured
notes and convertible notes, less cash and cash equivalents,
restricted bank balances and pledged deposits.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, properties under development,
properties held for sale, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, loan receivable and pledged deposit with
carrying value of approximately HK$474.1 million, approximately
HK$1,992.0 million, approximately HK$4,829.7 million,
approximately HK$1,081.6 million, approximately HK$277.1
million, approximately HK$103.1 million, approximately HK$141.5
million and approximately HK$31.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$429.0 million, approximately HK$1,956.7 million,
approximately HK$4,892.5 million, approximately HK$1,145.0
million, approximately HK$509.7 million, approximately HK$15.7
million, HK$103.7 million and HK$nil) were pledged to secure the
Group’s general banking facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(continued)

The Group’s capital commitment as at 31 March 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$2,412.2 million (2021: approximately
HK$829.0 million) which was mainly attributed to its property
development business. In addition, the Group’s share of joint
ventures’ own capital commitments amounted to approximately
HK$43.3 million (2021: approximately HK$145.0 million). The
Group has given guarantee to banks in connection with facilities
granted to two joint ventures up to HK$450.8 million (2021: nil)
and were utilised to the extent of HK$360.9 million as at 31 March
2022 (2021: nil). Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no
significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group provided guarantees of
approximately HK$45.5 million to customers in favour of certain
pbanks for the loans provided by the banks to the customers
of the properties sold (2021: approximately HK$56.8 million).
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, in the event of default on
mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and
penalties owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of
any sales proceeds.

The Group strengthens and improves its financial risk control
on a continual basis and has consistently adopted a prudent
approach in financial management. Financial resources are under
close monitoring to ensure the Group’s efficient and effective
operation, as well as flexibility to respond to opportunities and
uncertainties. Management of the Group is of the opinion that
the Group’s existing financial structure is healthy and related
resources are sufficient to cater for the Group’s operation needs
in the foreseeable future. The Group operates a central cash
management system. It also prudently invests in liquid investment
in order to obtain a reasonable return while maintain liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED T (&)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBESRPKEER (&)
(continued)

As at 31 March 2022, interest-bearing debt profile of the Group RZ-ZZTZ—F=A=+—H AEEZFEE

was analysed as follows: BHEaESTOT -
31 March 31 March
2022 2021
—=E—-= —E-—4F
=HA=+—H —A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Bank loans repayable BT FHEE ZRITER
Within one year or on demand —FRIEEK 3,044,945 3,209,249
In the second year RNE_F 1,470,439 1,061,028
In the third to fifth year, inclusive RE=ZFEZFAF (REEEMT) 1,743,824 2,090,872
Beyond five years RHFE 36,984 217,271
6,296,192 6,578,420
Other loans repayable BTy FHEE EMER
Within one year or on demand —FRFIREK 137,660 60,090
In the second year RE_F 206,230 202,270
343,890 262,360
Unsecured Notes (i) EIERE ()
In the third to fifth year, inclusive REZFEZEFRAFT (BEEERT) 219,497 199,348
Convertible Notes (ii) AR SR (ii)
Within one year or on demand —FARPIREK - 131,901
6,859,579 7,172,029
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

B E &Y B2

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(continued)

U

CAP has issued unsecured notes with maturity in
September 2024 (the “Unsecured Notes”) which are listed
on the Stock Exchange by way of debt issue to professional
investors only (stock code: 5755). As at 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2021, the Unsecured Notes in the principal
amount of HK$290 million remained outstanding.

CAP issued convertible notes with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$500 million on 19 October 2016 which will
mature on 18 October 2021 (the “Convertible Notes”),
which entitle the holders thereof to convert into the ordinary
shares of CAP (“CAP Share(s)”) at a conversion price of
HK$0.4 per CAP Share. On 9 December 2020, the CAP
partially redeemed the Convertible Notes in the principal
amount of HK$130.0 million. On 18 October 2021, CAP
fully redeemed the remaining principal amount of HK$134.8
million upon its maturity. As at 31 March 2022, there were
no outstanding Convertible Notes. During the financial year,
no Convertible Notes were converted into shares of CAP by
the holders of the Convertible Notes.

In order to meet the interest-bearing debts, business capital
expenditure and funding needs for, inter alia, replenishment of
the Group’s land bank, enhancing our portfolio of properties
for investment and/or payment of construction costs for the
development of the property development projects, the Group had
from time to time been considering various financing alternatives
including but not limited to equity fund raising, financial institution
borrowings, non-financial institution borrowings, bond issuance,
convertible notes, other debt financial instruments, and disposal
of properties.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) of
approximately HK$455.3 million and approximately HK$484.7
million, respectively:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED T (&)

FFEARE  EAWERHEHMBLQ
A UREAREREFAEENARRE

&

RZZEZ—F=A=+—8 AEEFEEA
FEFAEMEZEUE((RAFETAHEM
2EKZEDCEREERZATEF AR
(BRAFEFABRD CEREED AL
455,300,000 78 7T M 4 484,700,000 /8 7T

As at 31 March 2022 Year ended 31 March 2022 Fair value/carrying amount
W8k BEZECCE
ZR=t-8 ZA=t-BLEE AVE/KAE
Percentage
tothe Asat 31 Asat 31
Amount Group's  Fair value Interest ~ Dividend March March  Investment
held  netassets  gain/(loss) income ~ received 2022 2021 cost
i i
{358 LYE i S
RERE hi/ =R R
fieedE  2EAM (68)  HEMA  BHRE  =t-B Zt-B REAR
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK5 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS 000
iFd Tin % T Tin Tin Tin Tin Thn
FOC: BOFEIARG2E
hEzeREE:
. Eouityinvestment A RERE 9417 22% (28189 - 199 00417 74,001 288522
B Bonds B &
China South Gy Holdings Limted~~ ZE52RERAE
(‘China South City’) ([£84)) 1 132,446 14% (32048 4402 - 182,446 162,269 166,474
Other bonds EfiEs 113433 1% (%854 71,342 - 11343 6690 403959
Subtotal gt 455,29 48% (498,782) 7,744 19% 155,09 843,190 858,955
FVPL: ROTE\BE LREE:
A Equiy ivestment A RERE 2507 - 30 - 33 2507 90,684 4551
B Funds B 2
Blackstone REIT fund Blackstone REIT fund 2 136,565 14% 16,207 - 2459 136,565 - 120367
Other funds EfEs 284,99 30% (121,569) - 31,931 284,992 1,717 307481
C. Bonds ¢ & 16,373 0.5% (4161 - - 16,373 15,564 50534
D Others Dt 14200 0.1% 15,523 - - 14,200 3,864 53%
Subtotd gt 18707 5.0% (93,606 - RTZV A .V S .7 BT : K1 )
Totdl i 940023 W 6%R%Y 75,744 0 003 1305019 1437271
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR

MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

(continued)

The principal activities of the securities are as follows:

China South City Holdings Limited (“China South City”) is
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
whose shares are listed and traded on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1668). China South
City and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
development in integrated logistics and trade centers,
residential and commercial ancillary facilities, property
management, development, operations and maintenance
of an e-commerce platform and provision of advertising,
exhibition, logistics and warehousing services, outlet
operations and other services.

On 19 July 2021, the Group executed the subscription of
interests in the Blackstone Real Estate Income Trust iCapital
Offshore Access Fund SPC, a Cayman Islands segregated
portfolio company and CS Blackstone REIT Access Fund
SPC, a Cayman Islands segregated portfolio company for
subscription amounts of US$11.5 million and US$4.0 million
respectively. Blackstone Real Estate Income Trust (the
“BREIT”) is a non-listed, perpetual-life real estate investment
trust that was established in 2017. It invests primarily in
stabilized, income-generating U.S. commercial real estate.
It follows an investment guideline of having at least 80% of
its portfolio in real estate investments and up to 20% in real
estate debt investments, cash and/or cash equivalents. It is
managed by BX REIT Advisors L.L.C., an affiliate of the real
estate group of The Blackstone Group Inc., which serves
as the sponsor of the BREIT. The Blackstone Group Inc. is
an American alternative investment management company
based in New York whose shares are listed and traded on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: BX). Please refer to
the joint announcement dated 19 July 2021 published by
the Company and WYT for details.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

3. Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other
shares listed on the Stock Exchange and other major
stock exchanges. The fair value of each of these shares
represented less than 1.0% of the net assets of the Group
as at 31 March 2022.

4.  Save as disclosed above, the Group also invested in other
bonds and funds, the fair value of each of these bonds and
funds represented less than 1.0% of the net assets of the
Group as at 31 March 2022.

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century Choice”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP and a substantial
shareholder (the “PRC Shareholder’) of E#r7= i £ Bl E M@t 3
Mm% AR A8 (Yulin Hongjin Agricultural By-products Wholesale
Marketplace Limited (“Yulin Hongjin”)) entered into an agreement
in relation to the reduction of registered capital contribution of
Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin. Pursuant to the agreement,
the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement to the 35% of
dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 being RMB40.95 million and directed the
same amount to be paid to Century Choice, and the amount of
registered capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin
was reduced by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9
million. As a result of such reduction of registered capital
contribution, the CAP Group’s equity interest in Yulin Hongjin was
decreased from 65% to 51%. Accordingly, the Group’s effective
interest in Yulin Hongjin was decreased from approximately
22.82% to approximately 17.91%. Details of the capital reduction
were disclosed in the joint announcement published by the
Company, WYT and CAP dated 18 June 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS
(continued)

Please also refer to the sections above headed “Property
Development — Formation of joint venture and disposal of interest
of certain projects to the joint venture” and “Property Investment”
of this “Management Discussion and Analysis” above for details of
other material acquisitions and disposals by the Group during the
year under review.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
the Group has no future plan for material investments or capital
assets.

LITIGATION

In 2007, the CAP Group acquired Wuhan Baisazhou Agricultural
By-Product Grand Market Company Limited (“Baisazhou
Agricultural”) from independent third parties, Ms. Wang Xiu Qun
(“Ms. Wang”) and Wuhan Tian Jiu Industrial and Commercial
Development Co., Ltd. (“Tian Jiu”) for their respective 70%
and 20% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural (the “Baisazhou
Acquisition”).

Since 2011, the CAP Group has been involved in a number of
civil proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The key civil
proceedings in Mainland China and Hong Kong in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition are set out below:

In May 2015, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced proceedings
against the PRC Ministry of Commerce (‘“MOFCOM”) in the
Beijing Second Intermediate People’s Court, seeking, inter alia,
a direction that MOFCOM revoke its approval in respect of the
Baisazhou Acquisition.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED T (&)

LITIGATION (continued)

It is alleged by Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu that:

a) Baisazhou Agricultural forged share transfer agreements
(the “Contended Agreements”) in relation to the
Baisazhou Acquisition wherein the related consideration
was understated and the manner of settlement of the
consideration was inaccurately described;

b)  Baisazhou Agricultural forged the related documentation for
filing with the MOFCOM and the Hubei Administration For
Industry and Commerce (the “Hubei AIC”), and that such
documentation and the Contended Agreements involved
forged signatures; and

c) MOFCOM and the Hubei AIC approved the Baisazhou
Acquisition and processed the related fillings on the basis of
the above documents that are allegedly forged.

In December 2015, the Beijing Second Intermediate People’s
Court directed MOFCOM to reconsider its approval decision. In
May 2016, MOFCOM decided that its approval issued in relation
to the Contended Agreements shall not be revoked and shall
remain to be in force (the “Reconsidered Decision”).

In August 2016, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu commenced
administrative proceedings against MOFCOM in the Beijing
Second Intermediate People’s Court seeking to set aside the
Reconsidered Decision. In March 2017, the Beijing Second
Intermediate People’s Court dismissed the application of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu (“31 March Judgement”). On 20 December
2018, the Beijing Higher People’s Court upheld the 31 March
Judgement (“20 December Judgement”), Ms. Wang and Tian
Jiu applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial and for
dismissal of (i) the 31 March Judgement, and (ii) the 20 December
Judgement, but this application was dismissed by the Supreme
People’s Court on 29 December 2020.

As advised by CAP’s PRC legal advisor, the approval issued by
MOFCOM in 2007 in relation to the Contended Agreements shall
not be revoked and remain to be in force, and the CAP Group
continues to be the legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou
Agricultural.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

LITIGATION (continued)

In May 2015, CAP Group commenced legal proceedings against
Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu in the Higher People’s Court of Hubei
Province (“Hubei Court”) seeking, inter alia, declarations and
orders that the sales and purchase agreements for the Baisazhou
Acquisition (the “SPA”) have been legally made, and that Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu shall assist Baisazhou Agricultural to discharge
its contractual duties under the SPA to make the necessary filing
with MOFCOM (which were subsequently withdrawn in April 2019
in light of the decisions in respect of the MOFCOM approvals). Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu filed their counterclaim for, inter alia, the return
of the CAP’s 90% interest in Baisazhou Agricultural, which was
dismissed by the Hubei Court in December 2019 (“23 December
Judgement”).

In January 2020, Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu appealed against
the 23 December Judgement. On 29 March 2021, the CAP
Group received the judgement of the Supreme Court dated 29
December 2020 (the “29 December Judgement”) which upheld
the 23 December Judgement and dismissed the appeal of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu. As advised by the PRC legal advisors of the
CAP Group, according to the 23 December Judgement and the
29 December Judgement, the CAP Group continues to be the
legal and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
N EEEWmED N (&)

LITIGATION (continued)

In 2011, CAP issued a Writ of Summons in Court of First Instance
in the High Court of Hong Kong (the “CFI”) against Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu. CAP (as purchaser) sought damages from Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu (as vendors) for their breach of various provisions
of the SPA. Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu counterclaimed for, amongst
others, an order that CAP do cause and/or procure the shares in
Baisazhou Agricultural to be transferred back to Ms. Wang and
Tian Jiu.

In 2012, CAP obtained a court order from the CFl to the effect
that undertakings (the “Undertakings”) were given by Ms. Wang
and Tian Jiu not to () indorse, assign, transfer or negotiate the
two instruments (purportedly described as promissory notes
in the SPA) (the “Instruments”); and (ii) enforce payment in
relation to the SPA by presentation of the Instruments until the
final determination of these proceedings or further court order.
Pursuant to the Undertakings, the Instruments will no longer fall
due for payment by CAP on 5 December 2012.

The CFl handed down its judgement on 18 January 2021
awarding damages in favour of CAP for sum exceeding the
sum owed under the Instruments. The CFl also ordered that the
damages awarded to CAP be set-off by the sum owed under the
Instruments, and that Ms. Wang and Tian Jiu not be allowed to
enforce the Instruments against CAP. In effect, CAP is not required
to make any payment under the Instruments to Ms. Wang or Tian
Jiu. CAP is seeking legal advice for the recovery of the balance of
the damages awarded to it. Further, as the counterclaim of Ms.
Wang and Tian Jiu was dismissed, CAP continues to be the legal
and beneficial owner of Baisazhou Agricultural.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

LITIGATION (continued)

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Court (“dianghan Court”) dated 19 November 2021
(“19 November Judgement”), the former director of Baisazhou
Agricultural, Mr. Zhou Jiu Ming (“Mr. Zhou”), during the period of
2009 under the employment of Baisazhou Agricultural, instructed
other associated personnel of Baisazhou Agricultural to unlawfully
misappropriate funds of Baisazhou Agricultural in the sum of
RMB40.0 million for his personal use. Wuhan Jianghan District
People’s Procuratorate commenced prosecution against Mr.
Zhou for penalty. Jianghan Court ordered in the 19 November
Judgement that: (1) Mr. Zhou was guilty of misappropriation of
funds and was sentenced to five years of imprisonment; (2) Mr.
Zhou shall return the misappropriated funds of RMB40.0 million to
Baisazhou Agricultural in accordance with the law.

According to the judgement of Hubei Wuhan Intermediate
People’s Court (“Wuhan Court”) dated 11 January 2022 (“11
January Judgement”), Wuhan Court ordered that the appeal by
Mr. Zhou against the 19 November Judgement be dismissed. The
11 January Judgement is final.

The case has now come to an end.

On 1 March 2022, Baisazhou Agricultural received the sum of
RMB40.0 million returned by Mr. Zhou. Compensation from
litigation judgement of approximately HK$48.6 million was
recognised and included in “Other income and gains, net” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Further details regarding the civil proceedings which the CAP
Group has been involved in can be found in the interim/annual
reports and announcements issued by CAP.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the financial year ended 31 March 2022, on 3 May
2022, CAP proposed to enter into a loan agreement with Ping An
Bank Co., Ltd. for a loan principal amount of RMB300.0 million (in
its HKD equivalent) for a term of three years (the “Ping An Loan”).
As a condition to the Ping An Loan, WYT is required to provide
a financial guarantee (the “Guarantee”) in respect of CAP’s
obligations under the Ping An Loan. The Guarantee provided by
WYT constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
the Listing Rules. On 22 June 2022, the independent shareholders
of the Company approved the Guarantee at its special general
meeting.

At the same special general meeting, the independent
shareholders of the Company also approved the revolving credit
facility entered into between CAP as the borrower and (i) Double
Leads Investments Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company,
and (i) Winning Rich Investments Limited, an indirect subsidiary of
WYT, as the lenders, pursuant to which Double Leads Investments
Limited and Winning Rich Investments Limited agreed to make
the revolving loan facility of HK$70.0 million and HK$506.0 million
respectively at the interest rate of 10.0% per annum for a term of
five years available to CAP. Such facility would expire on 2 May
2027.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Management of the Group is of the opinion that the Group has
no material foreign exchange exposure in the usual course of the
Group’s daily operation and therefore, the Group does not engage
in any hedging activities. The revenue of the Group, also being
mostly denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollar, matches
the currency requirements of the Group’s operating expenses.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 2,145 (2021: 2,102)
employees, of whom approximately 43% (2021: approximately
41%) were located in Hong Kong and the rest were located in
Mainland China. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual performance and
experience. On top of the regular remuneration, discretionary
bonus and share options may be granted to selected staff by
reference to the Group’s as well as individual’'s performances.
The Group also provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
all eligible employees in Hong Kong and retirement contributions
in accordance with the statutory requirements for our staff in the
PRC. The Group had launched a defined scheme of remuneration
and promotion review to accommodate the above purpose
and such review is normally carried out annually. Other forms of
benefits such as medical and retirement benefits and structured
training programs are also provided.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the principal risks and uncertainties
which may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations
and prospects based on its risk management system and
considered that the major risks and uncertainties that may affect
the Group included (i) Hong Kong economic conditions which
may directly affect the property market; (i) availability of suitable
land bank for future development; (iii) the continuous escalation of
construction cost in Hong Kong in recent years; (iv) business cycle
for property under development may be influenced by a number
of factors and the Group’s revenue will be directly affected by the
mix of properties available for sale and delivery; (v) all construction
works were outsourced to independent third parties and they may
fail to provide satisfactory services adhering to the Group’s quality
and safety standards or within the timeline required by the Group;
(vi) fluctuations of fair value gain or loss incurred on financial
assets and investment properties; (vii) credit risk and recoverability
of provision of loans which may incur bad debts during downturn
of economy; (viii) loss of management contracts for fresh markets
which may arise in light of severe competition with existing market
players and entry of new participants into the market; (ix) industrial
policy risk and supply chain disruption due to material shortage or
price inflation for pharmaceutical business; and (x) internet risk; (xi)
fluctuation in the exchange rate of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollars which may affect the repatriation of profit and/or additions
of investment when converting currencies; (xii) industrial policy risk
for development, construction, operations and acquisition of agri-
produce exchange markets; and (xiii) the effect of close down or
rental subsidies of these agricultural produce exchange market
due to the outbreak of COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWED N (F)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(continued)

In response to the abovementioned possible risks, the Group has
a series of internal control and risk management policies to cope
with the possible risks and has serious scrutiny over the selection
of quality customers and suppliers. The Group has formed
various committees to develop and review strategies, policies and
guidelines on risk control which enable the Group to monitor and
response to risk effectively and promptly. The Group also actively
proposes solutions to lower the impact of the possible risks on
the businesses of the Group.

PROSPECTS

We believe 2022 will be a year with challenges and opportunities.
The whole Hong Kong society and economy is adversely affected
by the sudden outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early
2022. Hong Kong real GDP contracted by 4.0% in the first
quarter of 2022 on a year-on-year basis. Moreover, Hong Kong’s
unemployment rate rolling three-month figure from February to
April 2022 climbed to a one-year high of 5.4% as stringent social-
distancing curbs imposed at the height of the city’s raging fifth
Covid-19 wave took their toll on businesses.

In respect of the property development segment in Hong Kong, it
is expected that the inflation pressure in Hong Kong is moderate
and thus for the increment pace of interest rate. With the positive
progress in border opening between Hong Kong and Mainland
China, the property market is expected to have steady and
positive development in 2022. The Group is cautiously optimistic
on the property development market in Hong Kong. In August
2021, the Group launched the pre-sales of The Met. Azure. The
performance was remarkable that all the units released for sales
on the first day were sold out on the same day. The project got the
record high selling price per square feet in the district. Moreover,
there will be a new development in Larch Street, Tai Kok Tsui and
it is expected to be pre-sale in the third quarter of 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS (continued)

During the year, the Group has invested in two new commercial
projects, namely the Parkville Property and the Jumbo Property.
Both projects were joint ventured with experienced investors and
the Group has taken the role as asset manager. The Group will
also focus on the asset management segment with the utilisation
of expertise in asset enhancements and property development.

The Group will continue to monitor the market changes closely
whilst keep looking for opportunities in property acquisition and
collaboration with strategic partners to strengthen the real estate
business.

The fresh market operations have been a cash flow generating
and profitable business over the past decades. Nevertheless,
the environment for fresh market operations will become more
competitive as the number of fresh markets and operators
have increased and also as a result of the gradual acceptance
of online shopping and delivery services. The unprecedented
scale of COVID-19 pandemic affects the fresh market operation
as citizens tended to hide from outdoors activities. While the
Government continues to roll out easing measures to the tenants,
it has reduced some pressure for these tenants. On the other
hand, when the pandemic situation will become over sooner or
later, the Group will continue to expand its fresh market portfolio
by collaborating with landlords and identifying opportunities to
acquire additional fresh markets in both public and private sectors
in Hong Kong to strengthen its recurring income. Moreover, the
Group will also devote more resources in developing retailing
business and delivery services in these fresh markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWED I (&)

PROSPECTS (continued)

Moreover, the Group, through CAP, operates 11 agricultural
produce exchange markets across five provinces in the PRC.
Such acquisition has significantly expanded the Group’s presence
in the fresh market and agricultural produce exchange market
segment and the property development segment in the PRC.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to build a nationwide
agricultural produce exchange network by leveraging its leading
position in the industry, replicable business model, advanced
management system and IT infrastructure and quality customer
service. Agricultural development is the PRC central government’s
first priority policy for the next consecutive years. In December
2021, Notice by State Council Issuing the 14th Five Year
Development Plan for the Digital Economy (No. 29 (2021) of the
State Council) was published, which states that the transformation
of industrial digitalisation was promoted steadily and agricultural
digitalisation was built in a comprehensive manner. Moreover,
in 2022, the document “No. 1 Central Document of 2022”
was released by the Central Committee of Communist Party of
China and the State Council of China. The document is aim at
to promote investments in agricultural produce markets, expand
agricultural produce network, build logistic infrastructure and
storage facilities of agricultural products and improve regional cold
storage infrastructure. The Group will continue to capture new
business opportunities by cooperating with partners to adopt an
“asset light” approach and to leverage on the support and policies
of the PRC Government. Given the Group’s leading position on
the market and dynamic business model, the Group is confident
that it will deliver long-term benefits to the Group.

“Wai Yuen Tong”, a reputable pharmaceutical household brand,
was established over a century ago. Subsequent to the outbreak
of COVID-19, we believe that TCM plays an increasingly significant
role in the fight against this global epidemic. Prevention comes
before cure and consumer health awareness will be increased.
Moreover, the fifth wave of the COVID-19 has made Hong Kong
citizens much more concerns about the pandemic situation
and it is expected that general increase in spending on Chinese
medication and nutritional supplements to help fighting against
the pandemic.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS (continued)

In order to maintain the WYT Group’s competitive advantage, it will
strategically restructure, integrate retail outlets and build a team
of experienced and well-trained Chinese medicine practitioners
to serve its customers. The Group’s ambition is to build one of
the largest teams of Chinese medicine practitioners in Hong
Kong through WYT. Moreover, the WYT Group will accelerate the
development of its Chinese medical consultation linking to TCM
products in Mainland China and Macau which can diversify the
risk of market uncertainty and explore markets beyond the elder
age group in Hong Kong. The national policy for Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, as a key development area,
provides a bright prospect for TCM development.

The Group will take advantage of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Greater Bay Area policy in order to broaden the distribution
network and help strengthen the Group’s sales and brand
recognition. The market for Chinese pharmaceutical medication
and supplements manufactured in Hong Kong is expected to be
expand rapidly in the next decade in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macau Greater Bay Area. The Government of Macau SAR has
granted a subsidiary of WYT the import/export and wholesales
license of medicine in Macau which allowed that subsidiary to sell
directly in pharmacies/supermarkets/chain stores on a wholesale
basis in Macau. Moreover, with the expected launch of the
Chinese medicine hospital in Hong Kong in 2025, it is expected to
set a new milestone for TCM in Hong Kong.

In summary, the overall strong financial position of the Group and
the expected continued growth through its diversified business
enable the Group to have a high degree of flexibility. We will
continue a proactive and prudent investment approach to drive
business growth on all business segments.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEEREREER

The Directors and senior management as at the date of this report
are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP, aged 60, is a co-founder of the
Group, which was established in 1987, and the Chairman of
the Company since November 1993. He is also an authorised
representative and a member of the remuneration committee,
and the chairperson of the executive committee, the nomination
committee and the investment committee of the Company. He is
responsible for the strategic planning, policy making and business
development of the Group. He has extensive experience in
corporate management. He is also the chairman and managing
director of WYT and the chairman and the non-executive director
of CAP. Mr. Tang is a committee member of the 12th and 13th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”) and is also appointed as a standing
committee member and convener of the 10th to 12th plenary
sessions of the CPPCC Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
Committee. Mr. Tang is also appointed as the first executive
chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations and the chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Shenzhen Association. He is the husband of Ms. Yau Yuk Yin,
the Deputy Chairman of the Company and the father of both Mr.
Tang Ho Hong (i.e. the spouse of Ms. Stephanie, an executive
Director) and Ms. Tang Wai Man, both the senior management of
the Company.

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, aged 60, is a co-founder of the Group and the
Deputy Chairman of the Company since November 1993. She is
also a member of the remuneration committee, the nomination
committee and the executive committee of the Company. Ms. Yau
is responsible for the overall human resources and administration
of the Group. She has over 29 years of extensive experience in
human resources and administration management. Ms. Yau is
the wife of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the Chairman of the Company,
and the mother of both Mr. Tang Ho Hong (i.e. the spouse of Ms.
Stephanie, an executive Director) and Ms. Tang Wai Man, both the
senior management of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Ms. Stephanie, aged 35, rejoined the Group in 2020 and is
currently the Chief Executive Officer — Financial Services. She is
also a member of the executive committee and the investment
committee of the Company. She obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Finance and Marketing from The University of Washington,
USA. Ms. Stephanie has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance. She is a director of Easy One Financial Group
Limited (“Easy One”, the shares of which were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and its privatisation proposed by
Caister by way of a scheme of arrangement became effective on
16 October 2020) (“Caister”, a company wholly owned by Mr.
Tang Ching Ho (“Mr. Tang”), the chairman, an executive Director
and a controlling shareholder of the Company), and also a director
of certain subsidiaries of Easy One. Prior to re-joining the Group,
Ms. Stephanie worked in the financing and accounting field for
more than 10 years, including in a multinational corporation
where she oversaw financing and accounting matters and
an international accountancy firm where she participated in
numerous merger and acquisition projects. Ms. Stephanie is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Stephanie is
the spouse of Mr. Tang Ho Hong, a son of Mr. Tang and Ms. Yau
Yuk Yin (“Ms. Yau”, both Mr. Tang and Ms. Yau are the executive
Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company). Mr. Tang
Ho Hong is a senior management of the Company. Ms. Stephanie
is the sister-in-law of Ms. Tang Wai Man, a senior management of
the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEERGREERE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, BBS, MBE, JP, aged 68, joined the
Group in November 1993 as an independent non-executive
Director. He is a member of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company and the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Wong holds a
bachelor’s degree in Commerce and Computing Science from
Simon Fraser University, Canada. He is a Fellow of Institute
of Canadian Bankers. He was a member of the Fight Crime
Committee, the Independent Police Complaints Council, the
Legal Aid Services Council, chairman of Quality Education Fund
Assessment and Monitoring Committee, a member of Solicitors
Disciplinary Tribunal Panel, a member of Council on Professional
Conduct in Education. He is ex-official member of New Territories
Heung Yee Kuk and is currently a member of other government
advisory bodies.

Mr. Siu Kam Chau, aged 57, joined the Group in September
2004 as an independent non-executive Director. He is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, a member of
the nomination committee, the remuneration committee and the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Siu holds a Bachelor
degree in Accountancy from The City University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Siu is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Siu has over 30 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting, company secretarial and corporate finance. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited, shares of which
are listed and traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He was an executive director of Power Financial Group Limited,
shares of which are listed and traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, for the period from April 2020 to June 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Yung, BBS, JP, aged 52, joined the Group in August
2020 as independent non-executive Director. He is also a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee of the Company. He is a registered
social worker and the chairman of New Territories Association of
Societies. He is also a director of New Territories Association of
Societies (Community Services) Foundation since 2002. Mr. Chan
has various public appointments including Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th and 13th National People’s Congress of the People’s
Republic of China, a member of the seventh Legislative Council
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China and a vice-chairman of Democratic Alliance
for the Betterment and Progress of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan holds
a Bachelor’s Degree from City University of Hong Kong, a Post-
graduate Diploma of Politics and Public Administration from
Tsinghua University and a Master’s Degree in Law and Public
Affairs from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan was
appointed as a Justice of Peace by the HKSAR Government in
2011 and awarded Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2014. Mr. Chan is
an independent non-executive director of GET Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8100), shares of which are listed and traded on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEERGREERE (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tang Ho Hong joined the Group in January 2011 and
has been appointed as an executive director of WOP since
December 2015 in the course of the spin-off. He is the chief
executive officer of WOP and is primarily responsible for the
overall management and supervision of operations of the WOP
Group, including overseeing property sales and leasing, asset
management and investment, and strategic planning on long
and short term development. Mr. Tang has over eleven years of
experience in property and land matters. Prior to joining WOP,
Mr. Tang worked with the property division of the Group where
he focused on property acquisition in Hong Kong and acquired
his experience in the property development, management and
investment businesses. Mr. Tang graduated from The University
of Washington with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Business
Administration. Mr. Tang is a member of the Henan Provincial
Committee of the CPPCC. He is the son of Mr. Tang Ching
Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (both the executive Directors and the
controlling shareholders of the Company) and the spouse of Ms.
Stephanie (an executive Director), all are the executive directors
of the Company, and a brother of Ms. Tang Wai Man, a senior
management of the Company.

Ms. Tang Wai Man joined the Group in 2014 and has been
appointed as an executive director of WYT since April 2018. Ms.
Tang is responsible for strategic sales and marketing, channel
sales and retail operation in Hong Kong and Macau of the WYT
Group. She graduated from University of Edinburgh, UK with a
Master of Arts with Honors in Business Studies. Prior to joining
the WYT Group, she has worked for the Company as an assistant
to the Chairman of the Company and gained other experience in
financial analysis, sales and marketing and business development
in a number of corporate bodies in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom. Ms. Tang is also a director of most of the subsidiaries of
WYT. She is the daughter of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk
Yin, the executive Directors, sister of Mr. Tang Ho Hong, a senior
management of the Company and sister-in-law of Ms. Stephanie,
an executive Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Lau Kin Shing, Chris joined the Group in January 2021
as the Group Chief Financial Officer. He is responsible for
the strategic planning, financial management and control,
accounting, investor relations and corporate services of the
Group. Mr. Lau has over 31 years of solid finance management
experience gained in multinationals in Asia Pacific, Greater China
and the US. He also brings a wealth of experience to this role
with managing start-ups, post-merger/acquisition integration,
business process improvement and Enterprise Resource Planning
system implementation in addition to Treasury, Tax and Credit
management. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Economics
from the Australian National University and a Graduate Diploma
in Computing Studies from the University of Canberra. He is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow of CPA Australia.

Mr. Lam Wai Fung, Dominic joined the Group in December
2019 and was appointed as the financial controller of the
Company. Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor of Arts Degree in
Accountancy in the City University of Hong Kong and is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a chartered financial analyst of the CFA Institute
and a certified financial risk manager of the Global Association of
Risk Professionals. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lam worked
for an international accounting firm in Hong Kong for over seven
years for assurance and business advisory services and has been
worked in various listed companies for over 10 years.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chiu Ming Ho joined the Group in November 2020. He is the
Chief Operating Officer — Financial Services of the Company. Mr.
Chiu holds a Master’s Degree in Investment Management and a
Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration (Accounting) from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology respectively.
He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chiu has worked in a number
of international banks, multinational financial companies and well-
known accounting firms. He has extensive experience in banking,
investment, accounting and auditing.

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus joined the Company in February
2021 as the Group Company Secretary and is a fellow member
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute. He holds a Master Degree
of Professional Accounting, a Master Degree of Corporate
Governance, a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Bachelor Degree
of Arts in Translation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung
held company secretary positions in several Hong Kong listed
companies, including CAP (stock code: 149), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance within a sensible framework with
a strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity
and independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance practices are fundamental and essential to the
success of the Company and the enhancement and promotion of
the Shareholders and other stakeholders’ value.

The Company continued to take steps to apply the principles and
comply with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
during the year under review. The Board has reviewed periodically
the compliance of the CG Code and is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had complied with
the code provisions of the CG Code, except for the following
deviation:

Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules (effective from 1 January 2022)
provides that the nomination committee should be chaired by
chairman of the board or an independent non-executive director
and comprise a majority of independent non-executive directors.
During the year under review, the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) be chaired by the
chairman of the Board, and did not have majority of independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”, each an “INED”) until
Ms. Stephanie tendered her resignation as a member of the
Nomination Committee on 18 March 2022.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from time
to time, (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed, following a specific
enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year
under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy adopted by the Company in November 2018
is intended to be prudent and sustainable, and will be evaluated
from time to time. There is no assurance that dividends will be
paid in any particular amount for any particular period. Subject
to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, the Board
may, at its discretion, determine the declaration of payment of
dividend(s) to the Shareholders in any amount, frequency in any
financial year depending on, among other things, the Company’s
operation and financial performance, liquidity condition, capital
requirements, future funding needs, contractual restrictions,
availability of reserves and prevailing economic climate.

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
development, property investment, management and sub-
licensing of fresh markets and agricultural produce exchange
markets, the manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical and
health food products, treasury management which also includes
money lending and asset management. The Group’s strategy for
generating and preserving shareholder’s value in the long run is
to invest prudently in projects and opportunities for maximising
return to Shareholders. With respect to property development,
the Group actively explores opportunities and increases its land
portfolio which forms the basis for generating gain in the property
development. To cope with the dynamic and uncertain market
conditions, the Group mainly focuses on projects with shorter
development cycle in order to provide greater turnover cycle,
flexibility, addition of value and reduction of business risk. On the
other hand, the Group continues to maintain a balanced portfolio
of property investments, regularly review its tenant mix, with an
aim to maximise rental yield and secure a stable stream of income
to support the recurring operations of the Group. Management
and sub-licensing of fresh markets provides another stable source
of income stream to the Group, the Group continues to devote
resources to enhance the facilities and image of existing markets
to increase rental yield. The Group continues to expand its
presence in the fresh market segment in the PRC and to build a
nationwide agricultural produce exchange network by leveraging
its leading position in the industry, replicable business model,
advanced management system and IT infrastructure and quality
customer service. Our pharmaceutical and health food business
focus primarily on the manufacturing, marketing and sales of the
pharmaceutical and health food products in Hong Kong and the
PRC. The Group has provided lending to third party customers as
part of treasury management’s business and the Group has been
very prudent and cautious in assessing potential loan applications,
especially amid the ambiguous economic outlook. The Group
commenced the provision of asset management services through
WOP since 2019 and kept on deploying resources to strengthen
the business. Overall, the Group adopts a proactive approach in
developing its business and exploring to capture new business
opportunities by cooperating with partners to adopt an ‘asset
light” approach.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS MODEL AND STRATEGY (continued)

In short-term, the Group continuously reviews and updates its
strategies to provide better clarity on direction and business
models. The Group takes active and prompt measures to meet
market changes through adjustment of business strategy and
control over costs. Further, the Group strives to maintain a
healthy financing structure and devotes effort to securing banking
facilities which is regarded as an important element for supporting
continuous business development of the Group.

THE BOARD

The Board currently has six Directors comprising three executive
Directors and three INEDs. During the year under review and up
to the date of this annual report, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP (Chairman)
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (Deputy Chairman)
Ms. Stephanie

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, BBS, MBE, JP
Mr. Siu Kam Chau
Mr. Chan Yung, BBS, JP

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin is the spouse of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms.
Stephanie is the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms.
Yau Yuk Yin. The biographical details of all Directors are set out on
pages 61 to 64 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and experience
which are appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The opinions raised by the INEDs in Board meetings
facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. During the year under review, the Board has three
INEDs, comprising Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam
Chau and Mr. Chan Yung, representing more than one-third of
the Board, and at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate
professional qualification and/or accounting and audit experience
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors also generates a strong independent element
on the Board, which allows for an independent and objective
decision making process for the best interests of the Company
and its Shareholders. All Directors are aware of the required levels
of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence under Rule 3.08 of the
Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an
updated list of the Directors identifying their role and function are
available on the websites of the Company (www.wangon.com)
and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk). The Company will review
the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that the
Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise, skills
and experience to meet the needs of the Group’s business and to
enhance the Shareholders’ value.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board is accountable to stakeholders for the activities
and performance of the Group and its primary functions cover,
among other things, the formulation of overall strategy, the
review corporate and financial policies and the oversight of the
management of the Group’s business and affairs. Apart from
these, the Board reserved for its consideration and decision on
major acquisition and disposals, review of interim and annual
financial results, appointments and removals of directors and
auditor, evaluation on the performance and compensation of
senior management, any material capital transactions and other
significant operational and financial affairs. With a review to
maintaining an appropriate balance of authority and responsibility,
such functions are either carried out directly by the Board or
indirectly through various committees established by the Board,
with respective functions set out in their terms of reference.

The INEDs account for diverse industry expertise but are not
involved in the day-to-day management of the Group. The general
management and day-to-day management are delegated to
management, including but not limited to the preparation of
regular financial information, execution of designated assignments,
and implementation of sustainability practices.

The Directors having material interest in the matter shall abstain
from voting at such Board meeting and the INEDs with no conflict
of interest shall attend at such meeting to deal with the matters.

All Directors ensure that they can give sufficient attention to
discharge their responsibilities to the affairs of the Company
and the Directors have disclosed to the Company the identity
and nature of offices held in any public organisation and other
significant commitments on an annual basis.
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THE BOARD (continued)

During the year, regular Board meetings of the Company were
held four times to review, consider and approve, among others,
annual and interim results and to review the business operations,
corporate governance and the effectiveness of internal control
systems and risk management of the Group. Apart from these
regular meetings, Board meetings are also held, as and when
necessary, to consider major transactions. At least 14 days’ notice
for each regular meeting is given to all Directors. All such minutes
are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman of
the Company also met with the INEDs without the presence of
executive Directors during the year.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are separate to reinforce their respective independence
and accountability. Their respective responsibilities were clearly
segregated and defined in writing by the Board, the chairman
of the Company is primarily responsible for the overall strategic
planning, management and leadership of the Board and ensuring
all Directors receive accurate and timely information, while the
functions of the Managing Director are responsible for the day-to-
day business management and implementation of the business
strategies adopted by the Board. The Chairman is Mr. Tang Ching
Ho and the Company has no Managing Director as at the date
of this report. Day-to-day business operation of the Group is
delegated to various experienced management of the Group.
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THE BOARD (continued)

All INEDs are appointed with specific term set out under
respective letters of appointment and all of them are subject to
retirement by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meetings in accordance with
the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-law(s)”). All INEDs are
appointed for a term of not more than three years. Pursuant to
code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code and the Bye-law 87 of
the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if
their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) are required to retire from office by
rotation, provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years, and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. In addition, the Directors who are
appointed by the Board to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the existing Board are subject to re-election at the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon their
appointment on an annual basis. The Company has received
from each of the existing INEDs, comprising Mr. Wong Chun,
Justein and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The INEDs would not participate in
the Group’s daily operation and they would abstain from voting
on any resolution(s) in which he had any interest. Therefore, the
Company continues to consider all the existing INEDs to be
independent for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the
corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in
place to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate
governance practices within the Group with regard to the
prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) stipulating the composition of the Board, reviewed the
policies and measures on the Group’s corporate governance,
reviewing a code of conduct applicable to the Directors and
employees, monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuing professional development of
Directors and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and the disclosure in this report.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will not regard
a single gender board of directors as achieving member diversity.
As at the date of this report, the Board have achieved diversity
under the Listing Rules.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the
Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

The Company notes increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted the Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to
diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee reviews and
assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board periodically
and recommends the appointment of new Director, when
necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.

In designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

During the period under review, the Board comprised six
Directors, including three executive Directors and three INEDs,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.

Having reviewed the Diversity Policy, the nomination policy and
the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied
that the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development so as to develop and refresh Directors’
knowledge and skills and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The company secretary
of the Company regularly circulates training materials, briefings
or reading materials to all Directors in respect of the updates on,
among other things, the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
or other useful guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”)) and
financial or accounting standards which may be of the interest to
the Directors.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also provides
and circulates to the Directors with monthly and regular updates
relating to the Group’s business, financial position and business
environment, in which the Group operates. During the year, all
existing Directors have complied with the code provisions in
relation to continuous professional development. Apart from
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business, updated
rules and regulation and other director’s duties and responsibilities
by all Directors, the Directors also enhanced their professional
development by way of attending seminars and/or forums.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The company secretary of the Company continuously updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business, the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year, all existing Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance to indemnify its Directors against liabilities
arising out of legal action on corporate activities. Such insurance
coverage is reviewed and renewed with consultant advice on an
annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
executive committee (the “Executive Committee”), the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the investment committee (the “Investment
Committee”), each of which has the specific written terms of
reference that will be reviewed and updated, where necessary.
Minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the committees are
kept by the company secretary of the Company and open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Each committee is required to report to the Board on its
decision and recommendations, where appropriate.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Executive Committee has been established since 2005
with specific terms of reference with authority delegated by the
Board. Its primary function is to undertake general management
and supervise the day-to-day management, performance and
operations in accordance with the business strategy of the
Group. It exercises leadership, develops and keeps under review
strategy and business development initiatives of the Group and
monitors their implementation. Currently, the Executive Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Ms. Yau
Yuk Yin and Ms. Stephanie and Mr. Tang Ching Ho takes the chair
of the Executive Committee.

The Audit Committee has been established since December 1999
with specific written terms of reference stipulating its authorities
and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
which are available on the websites of the Company (www.
wangon.com) and HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

In accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer
must establish an audit committee comprising a minimum of three
members. During the year under review, the Audit Committee
comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Siu Kam Chau, Mr. Wong
Chun, Justein and Mr. Chan Yung, which is chaired by Mr. Siu
Kam Chau.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The functions of the Audit Committee is, among others, to
assist the Board to review the financial reporting independently,
including interim and final results, to supervise over the Group’s
internal controls, risk management and to monitor the internal
and external audit functions, the appointment, reappointment and
removal of auditors and to make relevant recommendations to
the Board to ensure effective and efficient operation and reliable
reporting. The functions of the Audit Committee will be reviewed
regularly by the Board and amended from time to time, as and
when appropriate, in order to be in compliance with the code
provision of the CG Code (as amended from time to time) so
as to ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff to implement the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee members met
twice with senior management and the external auditor. During the
year and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
discussed and reviewed, inter alia, the following matters:

(@ the annual results for the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2022 and the interim results for the six-month ended 30
September 2021 to ensure the full, complete and accurate
disclosure in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to
the accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(o) the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst
& Young as external auditor to audit and report on the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 and performed agreed
upon procedures on the interim results for the six-month
ended 30 September 2021;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

the term and remuneration for the appointment of external
auditor to perform non-audit services and other special
corporate projects and review the overall significant control
system;

the independence of the external auditor especially for those
non-audit services;

the overall effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems; and

the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff, the accounting and financial reporting matters and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of Ernst & Young and has recommended to the Board the
reappointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external
auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee since
September 2005 with specific written terms of reference, as
revised from time to time, stipulating its authorities and duties,
which are available on the websites of the Company (www.
wangon.com) and the HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk).
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer
must establish a remuneration committee comprising a majority
of independent non-executive directors. During the year under
review, the Remuneration Committee comprised three INEDs,
namely Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan
Yung, and two executive Directors, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho
and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by
Mr. Wong Chun, Justein.

The Remuneration Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice in accordance with the Company’s policy and
its terms of reference, if considered necessary.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(@ to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a remuneration policy
on the basis of basic salary and allowances, discretionary
bonus and share options;

(b) to review and approve the senior management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including, but not limited to, benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the Directors’
fee of the INEDs with reference to the range of remuneration
of other non-executive directors in the similar industry and
allow any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with the performance of their duties;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

()  to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
and

(9@ to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to
ensure that they consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, in which it reviewed the existing remuneration
policies of Directors and senior management by reference with
the market research, communicated with the chairman and
recommended amendments to the existing remuneration policies
and performance-based bonus and approved the remuneration
package and performance-based bonus paid the other Directors
and senior management of the Company. No Director took part in
any discussion or determination about his own remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve
the terms of the service agreements of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company, make recommendations
with respect to the remuneration and policies of the Directors
and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses,
including the incentive awards for the Directors and senior
management of the Company. No Director took part in any
discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the annual
remuneration of other members of the senior management by
bands for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:
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ERERRE (

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

In accordance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer
must establish a nomination committee chaired by the chairman
of the board or an independent non-executive director and
comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors.
During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
comprised three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, Mr.
Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan Yung, and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin. The Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Tang Ching Ho. The Nomination
Committee did not comprise majority of INEDs during the year
and deviated from the requirement of Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules until Ms. Stephanie resigned to act as a member of
the Nomination Committee on 18 March 2022, therefore, the
Nomination Committee comprised a majority of independent
non-executive directors and has complied with Rule 3.27A of the
Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

The Nomination Committee has been established since
September 2005 with specific written terms of reference,
as revised from time to time, stipulating its authorities and
duties, which are available on the websites of the Company
(www.wangon.com) and the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk).

Coupled with the recent change in composition of the Nomination
Committee, the Board reviews and monitors any deviation to
ensure the maximisation of the benefit of the Stakeholders of
the Company, though the remaining members of the Nomination
Committee have extensive experience in different aspects in
the industry of the Group to make a right recommendation and
nominate right candidate to the right position to lead to the
success of the Group.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the identification and
evaluation of candidates for appointment or re-appointment as a
Director and senior management. The Board has formalised its
existing practices into a nomination policy and adopted in October
2018. The nomination policy stipulated the key nomination criteria
and procedures for identifying and nominating suitably qualified
candidates to join the Board. The selection criteria specified in the
nomination policy include:

1. Selection Criteria

— in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors
(as reference), including reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation
to the principal businesses of the Company from
time to time, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or
above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. These factors are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person,
as it considers appropriate;

— retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the
Board to stand for re-election at a general meeting.
For those who have served as INEDs for a period of
nine consecutive years standing for re-election, the
Nomination Committee will consider the independence
of such Director for nomination by the Board to stand
for election at a general meeting and state the reason
in the circular to the Shareholders for the re-election;
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EXRERRE ()

)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

1.

2.

Selection Criteria (continued)

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as Director(s) and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of
or in relation to their standing for election as Director(s);
and

the Nomination Committee may request candidate(s)
to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call
a meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidate(s) from Board members if
any, for consideration by the Nomination Committee
prior to its meeting. The Nomination Committee may
also put forward candidate(s) who are not nominated
by Board members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidate(s) to stand for election at a general meeting,
the Nomination Committee shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommmendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the
Shareholders, the nominated persons shall not assume
that they have been proposed by the Board to stand
for election at the general meeting;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures (continued)

in order to provide information of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election at a
general meeting, and to invite nominations from
the Shareholders, a circular will be sent to the
Shareholders. The circular will set out the lodgment
period for the Shareholders to make the nominations.
The names, brief biographies (including qualifications
and relevant experience), independence, proposed
remuneration and any other information, as required
pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations,
of the proposed candidate(s) will be included in the
circular to the Shareholders;

the Shareholder can serve a notice to the company
secretary within the lodgement period of its intention
to propose a resolution to elect a person as
Director, without the Board’s recommendation or
the Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than
those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent to
the Shareholders. The particulars of the candidate(s)
so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular;

a candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a
notice in writing to the company secretary;

the Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidate(s) to stand
for election at any general meeting; and

as there may be more candidate(s) than the vacancies
available, and the “gross-vote” method will be used
to determine who shall be elected as Director, the
resolutions proposed for the candidate(s) by the
Shareholders shall therefore take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidate(s)
recommended by the Board.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

In respect of the Diversity Policy, the Board is cognisant of the
benefits of diversity and the Nomination Committee monitors
implementation of this policy as part of the process of selecting
and nominating candidates for appointment to the Board.
Candidates are considered against the broad and diverse range
of aspects specified in the nomination policy, which among other
aspects also include gender, ethnicity and cultural background.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@ to review and evaluate the structure, size and composition
(including diversity, skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board at least annually and make recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of INEDs;

(d) to monitor the continuous professional development of the
Directors;

(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors, in particular the chairman and the Managing
Director;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

() where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual
as an INED at the general meeting, it should set out in the
circular to the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting:

— the process used for identifying the individual why
the board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the board believes the individual
would still be able to devote sufficient time to the
Board;

— the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

— how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board;
and

(@ the chairman or another member of the committee shall
attend the Company’s annual general meetings and be
prepared to respond to questions raised by the Shareholders
on the committee’s activities and responsibilities.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and would access to
independent professional advice according to the Diversity Policy
and its terms of reference, if considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting, in which it considered and determined, inter
alia, the criteria and procedures for retirement by rotation and
recommended to the Board for re-election of Ms. Yau Yuk Yin
and Mr. Chan Yung at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The Nomination Committee also reviewed the Diversity Policy and
evaluated the Board performance and succession planning.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EERERRE (B)

BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) EEZES(H)

The Investment Committee has been established since June H®EZEgB_T——F/NARKYL - Wil
2012 with specific terms of reference for purposes of effectively L ESEBIEEE - B IR AB MG L% E R KET
determining the investment strategy and plan, monitoring the &l » BERHITREFRHLABRERERE - K=
execution of investment strategy and adjusting the investment ZT-_—F=A=+—H REZEEH=-EK
strategy. As at 31 March 2022, the Investment Committee 8 (BIBLE A 5 4 + &8 88 FA 5t A& I Stephanie &2
comprises three members, namely Mr. Tang Ching Ho, Mr. Siu ) - REZE &2 EFAEEASLE -
Kam Chau, and Ms. Stephanie, which is chaired by Mr. Tang

Ching Ho.
ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS EENEERNHESR
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at regular Board EREEREBE-—ZT-_—F=A=1+—HIEF
meetings, committee meetings and the Shareholders’ meeting ER{THETHEEE R  ZESZRLERE

held during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows: RERHFEFBHINAT -
Annual
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Investment general
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting
£33 E38 ENZEE®  FMZEe R¥ZEE  REZBE RRBEEAE
Tang Ching Ho #}ism 44 NATEE 17 1/1 1/1 17
Yau Yuk Yin HER 414 NANER 11 11 N/A MR 1
Stephanie’ Stephanie! 414 N/A MR N/A TEFR 11 1 11
Wong Chun, Justein I# 44 212 17 1/1 NA MR 17
Siu Kam Chau LT 4/4 22 1 11 11 1
Chan Yung 3 414 22 11 11 N/A MER 1

Note: Ms. Stephanie tendered her resignation as a member of the Nomination ik : StephaneZ tER =T =F = A+/\BIZ2#
Committee on 18 March 2022. FREZEEKE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EXRERRE ()

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditors, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 March 2022 which
has been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee, are set
out as follows:

SNEZREN 2 B &

HEZZ-_—_F=A=1+—HILFE &F%
ZEeRHMRIENARRFEN, SIS
BEN LK EFHENEE AT e EFImT

Fees paid/
payable to
Services rendered for the Group Ernst & Young
B
e A 55 1R 13t 2 PR 7% ZXEBTEEKFZER
HK$’000
FET
Audit services: ZERT

— annual financial statements — FEMB®RE 11,740

Non-audit services: FEZBURTS -
— agreed-upon procedures — WEE 1,680
— taxation and professional services — BB R BERT 1,083
— other professional services — Hh B EARTE 7,832
Total: P 22,335

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation
and publication of the timely financial statements and ensure that
they are prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. In preparing the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors have adopted
suitable accounting policies which are pertinent to the Group’s
operations and relevant to the financial statements and have
presented an understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects. The Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, the accounts is prepared on a going concern basis
and they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors
continue to explore any opportunities with potential investors to
enhance its financial position and business development of the
Group by way of refinancing, extension of borrowings and/or fund
raising.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 137 to 148
of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERHRE (K)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of risks it willing to take for
maintaining a sound and effective risk management and internal
controls systems covering financial, operational, compliance and
risk management aspects to safeguard the Company’s assets
and the Shareholders’ interests.

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the risk management
and internal controls that are significant to the Group on an
ongoing basis. The Audit Committee would consider the
adequacy of resource, qualification, experience and training
programmes and budget of staff and external advisor of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.

Management of the Group is delegated for designing, maintaining,
implementing and monitoring of the risk management and
internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and Stakeholder’s interest against
misstatement or loss and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems. Management reports from time to time of
their findings and remedies to the Board for its consideration.
The Group has established the risk management procedures
to address and handle all significant risks associate with the
businesses of the Group. The Board would perform annual or
periodical review on any significant or dynamic change of the
business environment and establish procedures to response the
risks result from significant change of business environment.

Management would identify the risks associate with the
businesses of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follows:

(@ risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

(b) risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as

to avoid the risk;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERHE ()

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

(c) risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk
or allocate to different location or product or market; and

(d) risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Group has engaged an external
advisory firm to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management and internal
control system of the Group. All findings and recommendations
on internal control deficiencies were communicated with the Audit
Committee and the Board. Management confirmed that there
is no significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

The Board conducted annual review on the risk management and
internal control system and procedures of the Group, covering all
material controls including financial, operational and compliance
and it was considered that the internal controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to strictly comply with the relevant laws
and regulations, such as the Companies Act, the Companies
Ordinance, the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and
regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. As far as the
Board is concerned, the Group has complied in material aspects
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group and its
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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ERERRE (

)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing and strengthening
efforts on environmental protection, so as to facilitate industrial
upgrading. The Group has proactively taken measures to promote
environmental-friendliness of the workplace by conducting
energy-saving, encouraging paper-recycling culture, emission
reduction, pollution prevention and so forth within the Group.
The environmental policies and performance of the Group are
to be disclosed in the Group’s standalone Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”) to be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

POLICIES

The Board has approved the following key policies that articulate
and define important principles and values of the Group:

The Group regards business integrity as one of the main elements
of corporate success. Anti-corruption has long been an important
element of the Group’s corporate culture. The Group has set up
ESG Policy and Staff Manual, maintains integrity and complies
with moral principles in the course of ordinary operation, and
takes a zero-tolerance approach to any form of bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering pursuant to code provision D.2.7 of
the CG Code (effective from 1 January 2022) of which requires
establishment of anti-corruption policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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POLICIES (continued)

The Group set up the anti-fraud and whistleblowing system for
the staff to report any misconduct such as commercial bribery,
and all reports are handled in a confidential manner. Relevant
policies clearly sets out that all office staff shall comply with the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. The staff shall
avoid accepting gifts from third-party individuals or organisations,
including any offer from a tenant, licensed person, service user,
customer, business partner, to steer clear of any conflict of
interest. If employees accept the gift voluntarily given by business
partners based on politeness, they shall report to the General
Manager of human resources for prior approval with regard to
the acceptance of entertainment. If employees violate the above
regulations, they will face internal disciplinary action or termination
of employment. The Group has adopted a whistleblowing policy
as pursuant to code provision D.2.6 of the CG Code (effective
from 1 January 2022) of which upgraded as Recommended Best
Practice (RBP) establishment of anti-corruption policy.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

While the Group endeavours to promote business development
and strive for greater rewards for our Stakeholders, we
acknowledge our corporate social responsibility to share some
burden in building the society where our business has been
established and thrived. During the past years, the Group made
charity donations to various organisations, including various
non-government and non-profit making organisations, and also
participated in, and successfully organised, various community
and caring services, details of which are to be disclosed in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

The Group is conscious of its role as a socially responsible group
of companies. It has made donations for community wellbeing
from time to time, supports the communities and encourages
its employees to participate in any charitable events and caring
services.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with Shareholders and investors (both individuals
and institutions) to ensure that the Group’s information is
disseminated to the Stakeholders in a timely manner and enable
them to have a clear assessment of the enterprise performance.
A shareholders communication policy has been adopted by the
Company and the effectiveness of the policy be reviewed on an
annual basis, and the same is available on the website of the
Company. Other major means of communications includes:

Extensive information on the Group’s activities and financial
position will be disclosed in the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, circulars and other corporate communications
which will be sent to the Shareholders and/or published on the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company
(www.wangon.com). Other inside information is released by way
of formal public announcements as required by the Listing Rules
and Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO.

The Company also acknowledges that annual general meetings
and various general meetings are valuable forums for the Board to
communicate directly with the Shareholders and members of the
Board and the members of various committees are encouraged
to attend and answer questions at such general meetings.

In order to let Shareholders to make an informed decision at the
general meetings, sufficient notices with not less than 14 clear
business days for every general meeting and 21 clear days for
every annual general meeting were given to the Shareholders.
The chairman will explain the detailed procedures for conducting
a poll vote during the proceedings of meetings and answered all
questions raised by the Shareholders. All resolutions put to vote at
general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results are posted
on the websites of the Company (www.wangon.com) and the
Stock Exchange (www. hkexnews.hk) following the holding of the
general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme that
keeps investors and the Shareholders abreast the Group’s latest
development and discloses relevant information to the public in
a timely manner. During the year, we held various meetings with
investors and participated in investor and press conferences.

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act and Bye-law 58 of
the Bye-laws, the Board whenever it thinks fit call special general
meetings and the Shareholder(s) holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company to require a
special general meeting (the “SGM”) to be called by the Board.
The written requisition (i) must state the purposes of the SGM;
and (i) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Suite
3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong for attention of the Board or the company
secretary of the Company, and may consist of several documents
in like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. Such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition.

Such requisitions will be verified by the Company’s share
registrars and upon their confirmation that the requisition is proper
and in order, the company secretary of the Company will inform
the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all the
Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified
as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM, the
requisitionists or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them may convene a SGM in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies
Act, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after expiration
of three months from the said date of deposit of the requisition.
A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any SGM to be
convened by the Board.

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the Shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company, or not less than
100 Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a)
give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next annual
general meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b)
circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The
requisition signed by all the requisitionists must be deposited at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at
Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong,
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses and not less than six weeks before the meeting in case
of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one
week before the meeting in case of any other requisition.

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as
Director(s) at a general meeting are set out in the “Corporate
Governance” under section headed under “Corporate Profile” on
the website of the Group (www.wangon.com).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS
WITH SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written
form, to the Board in writing by email to (pr@wangon.com) or
by addressing their enquiries to the company secretary of the
Company in the following manners:

In respect of the corporate affairs:
Company Secretary

Wang On Group Limited

Suite 3202, 32/F., Skyline Tower
39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Tengis Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate
the achieving of high possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability. Procedures are formulated to enable individual
employees to disclose internally and at a high level, information
which the individual believes that it shows malpractice or
impropriety within the Group. During the year under review, no
incident of fraud or misconduct was reported from employees
that have material effect on the Group’s financial statements and
overall operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Chin Wa Angus is a full-time employee and the
company secretary of the Group, reports directly to the Board
and is responsible for, inter alia, providing updated and timely
information to all Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Cheung has complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules and taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no change in
the constitutional document. The Memorandum of Association
and the amended and restated Bye-laws are available on the
websites of the HKEXnews (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company
(www.wangon.com), respectively.

CONCLUSION

Going ahead, the Group will continue to review regularly its
corporate governance practices to maintain high level of
transparency, to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable development
and to generate greater returns for the Stakeholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
comprise (i) property investment and property development
in Hong Kong through WOP, the Group’s 75%-owned listed
subsidiary; (i) manufacturing and/or retailing of pharmaceutical
and health food products through WYT, the Group’s
65.79%-owned listed subsidiary; and (i) management and sale
of properties in agricultural product exchange markets in the PRC
through CAP, a 53.37%-owned listed subsidiary of WYT. Details
of which are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There
was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding Foreign
Investment (2015 version), value-added telecommunications
services are subject to foreign investment restriction in which a
foreign investor shall hold no more than 50% equity interest in
a value-added telecommunications services provider (excluding
e-commerce) in the PRC.

The Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) services belong to a
sub-category of value-added telecommunications services.
According to the Administrative Rules for Foreign Investment
in Telecommunications Enterprises, foreign investors shall
contribute to no more than 50% of the registered capital of a
value-added telecommunications services provider (excluding
e-commerce) and any such foreign investor shall maintain a good
track record and possess relevant operational experience in the
value-added telecommunications services industry (the “Foreign
Shareholding Restrictions”).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

Shenzhen Gudeng Technology Limited (“Shenzhen Gudeng”),
the then direct wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of Shenzhen Zhibo
Tianyu Trading Development Limited (“Shenzhen Zhibo”), an
indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of CAP, was incorporated
in September 2015 and received the ICP license on 7 September
2016. It holds one website and two mobile applications for the
CAP Group and is principally engaged in online provision of
agricultural products in the PRC.

On 19 June 2015, the Circular on Removing the Restrictions
on Shareholding Ratio Held by Foreign Investors in Online Data
Processing and Transaction Processing (Operating E-commerce)
Business (the “E-commerce Circular”) was issued, which allows
the foreign ownership in online data processing and transaction
processing (operating e-commerce) business up to 100%.
However, since the E-commerce Circular does not provide any
clear legal definition of “e-commerce”, it is unclear as to whether
the business to be conducted by Shenzhen Gudeng would fall
within the scope of the E-commerce Circular to benefit from the
loosened restrictions on the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions.

As such, Shenzhen Zhibo (i) entered into a disposal agreement
on 11 July 2016 with Yu Hui Jun (the “Nominee Shareholder”)
and (ii) further entered into the exclusive business cooperation
agreement, the exclusive call option agreement, the equity pledge
agreement, the power of attorney and the ancillary documents
(collectively the “Structured Contracts”) with the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng on 9 October 2016 (other
than the exclusive business cooperation agreement which was
entered into by and between Shenzhen Zhibo and Shenzhen
Gudeng only and the power of attorney which was executed
by the Nominee Shareholder in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo) such
that the CAP Group is entitled to acquire the rights and ability
to control the business of Shenzhen Gudeng and to obtain the
economic benefit (the “Contractual Arrangements”).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The exclusive business cooperation agreement and the
exclusive call option agreement had an initial term of 3 years
commencing from the date of the relevant agreements which
were renewed for another 3 years on 8 October 2019. As security
for the payment of service fees under the exclusive business
cooperation agreement and the performance of the exclusive
call option agreement and the power of attorney, the equity
pledge agreement executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will
only be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholder contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
are fulfilled. Similarly, for protection of the CAP Group, the power
of attorney executed in favour of Shenzhen Zhibo will be valid
so long as the Contractual Arrangements are in place. CAP
will keep exploring various opportunities in building up its ICP
services operations for the purposes of being qualified as early as
possible, to acquire the entire equity interest of Shenzhen Gudeng
if and when the Foreign Shareholding Restrictions are lifted. On
20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the call option
which is an exclusive right granted to it and entered into an equity
transfer agreement with the Nominee Shareholder to acquire the
entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng at the consideration of
RMB100. On completion of the transfer of the entire equity interest
in Shenzhen Gudeng (which took place upon completion of the
change in registration at the relevant administration of industry
and commerce of the PRC), the operation of the CAP Group’s
e-commerce platform in online agricultural products trading as
supported by the Contractual Arrangements was ceased. The
Contractual Arrangements were unwound upon completion of
such transfer. The CAP Group will also continue to explore and
consider other suitable e-commerce opportunities as part of the
CAP Group’s business development. For details of the Structured
Contracts, please refer to the announcements of CAP dated 11
July 2016, 11 October 2016 and the joint announcement of the
Company, WYT and CAP dated 20 December 2021, respectively.

Save for the exclusive business cooperation agreement which
involves the payment of a service fee by Shenzhen Gudeng
to Shenzhen Zhibo on a monthly basis, and the nominal
consideration paid by Shenzhen Zhibo to the Nominee
Shareholder under the exclusive call option agreement, each
of the Structured Contracts does not involve payment of any
consideration.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The Structured Contracts, taken as a whole, permit the results
and financial operations of Shenzhen Gudeng to be consolidated
in CAP, as if it was CAP’s subsidiary resulting in all economic
benefits of its business flowing to CAP. Through the appointment
by Shenzhen Zhibo of all directors and senior management
of Shenzhen Gudeng, the Directors believe that Shenzhen
Zhibo is able to effectively supervise, manage and operate the
business operations, expansion plans, financial policies and
assets of Shenzhen Gudeng, and at the same time, ensure due
implementation of the Structured Contracts. According to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, a subsidiary is an entity that
is controlled by another entity (known as the parent). An investor
controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Although CAP does not directly or indirectly own Shenzhen
Gudeng, the Structured Contracts enable CAP to exercise control
over and receive economic benefits generated from the business
operation of Shenzhen Gudeng and the validity and legality of
the Structured Contracts have been confirmed by CAP’s PRC
legal adviser. The CAP Group derives economic benefits from
the ICP services provided by Shenzhen Gudeng. Under such
circumstances, the Directors are of the view that it is fair and
reasonable for Shenzhen Zhibo to be entitled to all the economic
benefits generated from Shenzhen Gudeng. The Structured
Contracts also permit Shenzhen Zhibo to exclusively acquire all
or part of the equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng, if and when
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. Notwithstanding the CAP
Group’s lack of equity ownership in Shenzhen Gudeng, the CAP
Group is able to control the business and financial position of
Shenzhen Gudeng in substance through the Structured Contracts.
As a result of the Structured Contracts, Shenzhen Gudeng is
accounted for as CAP’s subsidiary, and its financial position and
operating results are consolidated in CAP’s consolidated financial
statements.
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The amount of financial assistance made by the CAP Group to
Shenzhen Gudeng was approximately RMB600,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, any dispute arising from
the interpretation and performance of the Structured Contracts
between the parties thereto should first be resolved through
negotiation, failing which any party may submit the said dispute
to the South China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (or Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration) with
a view to resolving the dispute through arbitration in accordance
with the arbitration rules thereof.

The Nominee Shareholder has undertaken in the exclusive call
option agreement and the equity pledge agreement that she shall
make all appropriate arrangements and execute all necessary
documents to ensure that, in the event of death, loss of capacity,
bankruptcy, divorce (or other circumstances) of herself, there
would be no adverse effect or obstacle in enforcing the exclusive
call option agreement and the equity pledge agreement by her
SUCCESSOrs.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

The Nominee Shareholder may have potential conflicts with
Shenzhen Zhibo and CAP. To mitigate any potential conflict of
interests, the Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng have
undertaken in the exclusive call option agreement that, during
the period the exclusive call option agreement remains effective,
unless otherwise agreed by Shenzhen Zhibo, the Nominee
Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) would not participate in
any business which may be in competition with the business of
Shenzhen Zhibo or its related companies; and (i) would appoint
nominees nominated by Shenzhen Zhibo as Shenzhen Gudeng’s
director(s) or executive director(s).

The following are the major risks relating to the Contractual
Arrangements: (1) the PRC Government may determine that the
documents for the Contractual Arrangements do not comply with
applicable regulations; (2) the Contractual Arrangements may
not provide control as effective as direct ownership; and (3) the
Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC
tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.

Furthermore, the CAP Group conducts its business operation in
the PRC through Shenzhen Gudeng by way of the Contractual
Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements may not be enforceable under the PRC laws.
As advised by the CAP’s PRC legal advisers, the Contractual
Arrangements were narrowly tailored to minimize the potential
conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

In order to effectively control and safeguard the assets of
Shenzhen Gudeng, the Contractual Arrangements have provided,
without having obtained the consent of Shenzhen Zhibo, the
Nominee Shareholder and Shenzhen Gudeng (i) shall not sell,
transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any material
assets, legitimate interest or revenue of Shenzhen Gudeng, or
allow any encumbrance thereon of any security interest; and (ii)
shall always operate Shenzhen Gudeng’s business in the ordinary
and usual course of business and shall maintain the asset value of
Shenzhen Gudeng and refrain from any action/omission that may
adversely affect Shenzhen Gudeng’s operating status and asset
value.

The board of CAP confirmed that there is no material change in
the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under
which they were adopted, and its impact on the CAP Group,
and the terms of the Contractual Arrangements and the financial
assistance are on normal commercial terms.

Considering the scale of operations of the CAP Group’s
e-commerce platform, its contribution to the CAP Group’s
revenue/profits, as well as its development prospects, the
respective board of directors of the Company, CAP and WYT
considered that the CAP Group’s resources could be better
deployed towards supporting the continuous development of
its internal information technology infrastructure. Therefore,
in the interest of each of the Company, CAP and WYT and
their respective shareholders as a whole for the Contractual
Arrangements were unwound and terminated.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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STRUCTURED CONTRACTS (continued)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into
among Shenzhen Zhibo, Shenzhen Gudeng and the Nominee
Shareholder (who was a director of certain subsidiaries of CAP),
Shenzhen Zhibo is granted an exclusive right (the “Call Option”)
which was exercisable at any time at its sole discretion, to
acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Gudeng from the
Nominee Shareholder at a nominal consideration of RMB100 or
the minimum amount permitted under the applicable PRC laws
(whichever is higher).

On 20 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhibo exercised the Call Option
and entered into an equity transfer agreement with the Nominee
Shareholder to acquire the entire equity interest in Shenzhen
Gudeng at the consideration of RMB100. The Contractual
Arrangements were unwound and the operation of the CAP
Group’s e-commerce platform in online agricultural products
trading as supported by the Contractual Arrangements ceased
accordingly upon the completion of the transfer of the entire equity
interest in Shenzhen Gudeng. For details of the unwinding of the
Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the joint announcement
of the Company, WYT and CAP dated 20 December 2021.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 149 to 392.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s
revenue and loss attributable to owners of the parent amounted
to approximately HK$1,856.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,918.3 million (restated)) and approximately HK$305.2 million
(2021: profit of approximately HK$123.9 million), respectively.

The Board does not recommended the payment of a final
dividend (2021: HKO.2 cent per ordinary share) for the year ended
31 March 2022. Together with the interim dividend of HKO.1 cent
(80 September 2020: HKO.1 cent) per ordinary share, the total
dividends for the year ended 31 March 2022 will be HKO.1 cent
(2021: HKO.3 cent) per ordinary share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The business review and the key financial performance indicators
to the businesses of the Group, including, among other things,
the information set out below, are disclosed in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 17 to 60 of this annual report:

(@ afair review of the Group’s business;

principal risk factors;

(c) ananalysis using key financial performance indicators; and

future development in the Group’s business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies and
performance of the Group were disclosed in the“Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

For more details of the corporate social responsibility,
environmental policies and performance of the Group, please
refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to
be published on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial
statements, is set out on pages 395 to 396 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
option scheme during the year, together with the reasons therefor,
are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the financial statements,
respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year, the Company repurchased a total of 680 million
shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company on the Stock Exchange.
All the repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled by the
Company on 14 March 2022.

Details of the share repurchases during the year were as follows:
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Number of share Purchase price per share Aggregate

Month of repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest amount
SREBEE

e Af BERGEE B& B L

HK$ HK$ HKS

BT BT BT

(in million) (in million)

(BER) (B&AT)

January 2022 - 220.0 0.080 0.077 17.26

February 2022 —Z--%-f 400.0 0.080 0.075 30.80

March 2022 —Z--%=f 60.0 0.075 0.075 4.50

680.0 52.56
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The repurchases of the Company’s shares during the year were
made pursuant to the mandate granted by the Shareholders at the
2021 annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 August
2021, with a view to benefiting the Shareholders as a whole by
enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per share
of the Company. As at 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue
was 15,977,520,047 shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year under review.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), amounted to approximately HK$487.8 million (2021:
approximately HK$673.5 million).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that for the time being acting in relation
to any of the affairs of the Company, every Director and other
officers shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, losses, damages and expenses which they may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of
the duties of their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company had arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of
the Group for the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 4% (2021:
approximately 7%) of the total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein accounted to approximately
1%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 29% (2021: approximately 30%) of the total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 12% of the total
purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Mr. Tang Ching Ho, GBS, JP, Chairman
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, Deputy Chairman
Ms. Stephanie

Mr. Wong Chun, Justein, BBS, MBE, JP
Mr. Siu Kam Chau
Mr. Chan Yung, BBS, JP

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Yau Yuk
Yin and Mr. Chan Yung will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from
all existing independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Wong Chun, Justein, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Chan Yung, and
as at the date of this annual report still considered them to be
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 61 to 67 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 8 and 45 to the financial statements,
no Directors nor a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was
a party during the year.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an
interest in a business, apart from the businesses of the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any of
their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE R

EERETBTHAERAE QT REATHS
EEZRG - HERONES 2 ERR

N -
RTE

RZTEZZF=HA=+—H EFRARA=E
BEITRABR SHESH 2 EABHEARK
NRIREFMEEAE (EERFHKHAEEM
EXVED) 2kt - ARG HESFPEBEER
RARBIREBES LG EROIE 352 6BFEZ
ERfMzEE AR - SIREES K EE KD
EXVER ek R ATE TRAESF A B A& AN A R
KIS 2 i R BT ¢

RAQNTEBRZHER :

Number of ordinary shares held, capacity and nature of interest Approximate

FEERREE  ShREREE percentage of

the Company’s

Personal Family Corporate Other total issued

interest interest interest interest Total  share capital

BERFRHE

RIRE 288

Name of Director ESig BAESR FhER NRER Rt g BAtt

(Note f)

(Hitt)

%

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (‘Mr. Tang’) Hemrs(($%%]) 28026339 28,026,300 2,734,664,306 4,989,928,827  7,780,645,772 48.69
(Note ) (Note b) (Note c)
(Wita) (Hitb) (Hite)

Ms. Yau Yuk Yin (‘Ms. Yau’) BERLL((ELL]) 28026300 2,762,690,645 — 4989928827 7,780,645,772 4869
(Note d) (Note ¢)
(Hita) (Hite)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mr. Tang was taken to be interested in those shares in which his
spouse, Ms. Yau, was interested.

486,915,306 shares were held by Caister Limited (a company wholly
owned by Mr. Tang), 531,000,000 shares were held by Billion Trader
Limited (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Loyal Fame International
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One, which is turn
wholly-owned by Mr. Tang), and 432,475,200 and 1,284,273,800
shares were held by Suntech Investments Limited and Hearty Limited
respectively (both direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart
Investments Limited, which is directly wholly owned by WYT, which is
owned as to 65.79% by Rich Time Strategy Limited, which is in turn
wholly-owned by Wang On Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE”), a wholly-
owned subsiriary of the Company.

Mr. Tang was taken to be interested in those shares by virtue of being
the founder of a discretionary trust, namely Tang’s Family Trust.

Ms. Yau was taken to be interested in those shares in which her
spouse, Mr. Tang, was interested.

Ms. Yau was taken to be interested in those shares by virtue of being a
beneficiary of Tang’s Family Trust.

The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
forms filed under the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Interest in the shares and underlying shares of
associated corporations:

EERETBTHAERAE QT REATHS
EEZRG - HERONES 2 EER
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FARESEE 2 RO RARBIIR D 2

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Total number associated
associated Nature of of shares corporation’s
Name of Director corporation interest involved total issued shares
ML
ERITROEH
EEnE HEBCEEER  EEME s R RG B 2N B
(Note a)
(Brzta)
Mr. Tang CAP Interest of controlled 7,320,095,747 73.54
B4 A R E corporation (Note b)
Ms. Yau RIS AR (K1ztb)
ML
WYT Interest of controlled 810,322,940 65.79
fITE corporation (Note c)
St | VNI £ (Biztc)
WOP Interest of controlled 11,400,000,000 75.00
I EE corporation (Note ¢)
R1EH QA (Kiztc)
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EEE®mE (R)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (continued)

Notes:

(@)

)

Save

The percentage(s) were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
form(s) filed under the SFO.

Pursuant to the disclosure of interests form published on the website
of the Stock Exchange, among of the 7,320,095,747 shares of CAP,
2,007,700,062 shares were held by Onger Investments Limited (“Onger
Investments”) and 5,312,395,685 shares were held by Goal Success
Investments Limited (“Goal Success”). Onger Investments and Peony
Finance were directly wholly owned by Loyal Fame International Limited
(“Loyal Fame”, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Easy One which
is in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Tang). Goal Success was directly wholly
owned by Biomore Investments Limited (‘Biomore Investments”)
(a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Total Smart Investments Limited
(“Total Smart”) which is directly wholly owned by WYT. WYT is owned
as to 65.79% by Rich Time Strategy Limited (“Rich Time”) which is
wholly owned by WOE, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
which was owned as to 48.69% by Mr. Tang, together with his
associates.

810,322,940 shares of WYT were held by Rich Time, which is
wholly owned by WOE, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;
11,400,000,000 shares of WOP were held by Earnest Spot Limited (a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of WOE).

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the

Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates had registered an interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part

XV of

the SFO or the Model Code.

EERETBTHAERAE QT REATHS
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xKE (&)
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) MREBEREBEIMEHETIZEZEZBEERSE.
77,320,095,7470% B B E @ &k 5 H
2,007,700,0624% f& 17 B Onger Investments Limited
([Onger Investments |) 55 + % 5,312,395,685
% A% 17 1 Goal Success Investments Limited ([ Goal
Success ) # A ° Onger Investments & Peony
Finance F Loyal Fame International Limited([ Loyal
Fame| 595 7EEZ2EWMBAR  m25=
MEEELEEE) B2 EHE - Goal Success
f Biomore Investments Limited ([ Biomore
Investments | + % Total Smart Investments Limite
d([Total Smart]) v EZ 2 EME QT - i Total
SmartflHU T EER S ERB)EESER
A ° fif 7T % H Rich Time Strategy Limited ([ Rich
Time ) % 5 65.79% - Rich Time 8| f WOE (& 2
RlzE2EMBAR)2EHE - MWOERELE
NEEE NG 48.69% ©

© 810,322,940 B iz 7T & %15 A Rich Time#F & + 1M
Rich Tme Al AR ARz 2 EWEB A RIWOEEE
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Spot Limited (WOE Z E# 2 EWE AT IFHE ©
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations” above, “Share Option Schemes” below and in
the share option scheme disclosures in note 36 to the financial
statements, at no time during the year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2012
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
21 August 2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. The 2012 Scheme became effective on
21 August 2012 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by the
Shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from that date.

Under the 2012 Scheme, share options may be granted to
any Director or proposed Director (whether executive or non-
executive, including INEDs), employee or proposed employee
(whether full-time or part-time), secondee, any holder of securities
issued by any member of the Group, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support
or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any
member of the Group or any substantial shareholder or company
controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company controlled
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of
participants (the “Participants”).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Under the 2012 Scheme, the Board may grant share options to
the Participants to subscribe for shares of the Company for a
consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted
which must be accepted within 30 days from the date offer. Share
options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at Shareholders’ meetings.

Pursuant to the 2012 Scheme, the maximum number of share
options that may be granted under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company is an amount, upon
their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding any
shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2012 Scheme and any other schemes shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares in issue, as at
the date of approval of the 2012 Scheme limit.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each Participant (except for a substantial shareholder or an INED
or any of their respective associates) under the 2012 Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
Shareholders with such Participant and his associates abstaining
from voting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
must be approved by the INEDs (excluding any INED who is
the grantee of the option). Where any grant of share options to
a substantial shareholder or an INED (or any of their respective
associates) will result in the total number of shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of share options already granted and
to be granted to such person under the 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an aggregate value,
based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at each date
of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of share
options is required to be approved by shareholders in a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in the
terms of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an
INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to be
approved by shareholders.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or the exercise price must be at
least the higher of (i) the official closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock
Exchange on the offer date which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value
of a share of the Company.

During the year under review, no share options under the 2012
Scheme were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed. As at the
end of the year, the Company had no outstanding share options
under the 2012 Scheme.

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares available
for issue under the 2012 Scheme is 1,928,852,004 shares,
representing approximately 12.1% of the share capital of the
Company in issue as at the date of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Other particulars of the 2012 Scheme are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.

WOP adopted a share option scheme (the “WOP Share Option
Scheme”) with the approval of the shareholders of WOP and the
Company at the respective annual general meetings held on 9
August 2016 for the primary purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group’s operations. The WOP Share Option Scheme became
effective on 9 August 2016 and, unless otherwise terminated
earlier by its shareholders at a general meeting, will remain in force
for a period of 10 years from that date.

Under the WOP Share Option Scheme, share options may be
granted to any director or proposed director (whether executive
or non-executive, including independent non-executive directors),
employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time),
secondee, any holder of securities issued by any member of the
WOP Group, or its holding company, substantial shareholder
or any company controlled by its substantial shareholder, any
person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the WOP Group or any of its
substantial shareholder or company controlled by its substantial
shareholder, or any company controlled by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes of participants (the “WOP
Participants”).

The board of directors or WOP may grant share options to WOP
Participants to subscribe for shares of WOP for a consideration
of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted which must be
accepted within 30 days from the offer date. Share options do
not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at the
shareholders’ meetings of WOP.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)
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L4

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The maximum number of share options that may be granted
under the WOP Share Option Scheme is the number, upon their
exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued share
capital of WOP from time to time, excluding any shares issued on
the exercise of share options. The total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the WOP Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares of WOP
in issue, as at the date of approval of the WOP Share Option
Scheme, or as refreshed.

The maximum number of WOP shares issuable under share
options to each WOP Participant (except for a WOP substantial
shareholder or a WOP independent non-executive director or
any of their respective associates) under the WOP Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
number of shares of WOP in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share options in excess of such limit must be separately approved
by the shareholders of WOP and the Company with such WOP
Participant and his/her associates abstaining from voting. Share
options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of WOP (or any of their respective associates) must
be approved by the independent non-executive directors of WOP
(excluding any independent non-executive directors of WOP who
is the grantee of the options).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of WOP (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already
granted and to be granted to such person under the WOP
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
WOP (including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding)
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of grant
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of WOP in
issue, and having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of WOP’s shares at each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million,
such further grant of share options is required to be approved
by the Shareholders of WOP and the Company at a general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in
the terms of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of WOP (or any of
their respective associates) is also required to be approved by
shareholders of WOP and the Company.

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the official
closing price of the shares of WOP as stated in the daily
quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which
must be a business day; (i) the average closing prices of the
shares of WOP as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of a share of WOP.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of WOP’s
shares available for issue under the WOP Share Option Scheme is
1,520,000,000 shares, representing 10.0% of the share capital of
WOP in issue at the date of this annual report.

During the year, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed,
cancelled or outstanding under the WOP Share Option Scheme.

Other particulars of the WOP Share Option Scheme are set out in
note 36 to the financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

At the annual general meeting of WYT held on 22 August 2013,
its shareholders approved the termination of the share option
scheme previously adopted on 18 September 2003 (the “WYT
2003 Scheme”) and the adoption a new share option scheme
(the “WYT 2013 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentive and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the WYT Group’s operations. Upon termination of
the WYT 2003 Scheme, no share option was granted thereunder
but the subsisting share options granted prior to the termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable during the prescribed
exercisable period in accordance with the terms of the WYT 2003
Scheme. The WYT 2013 Scheme became effective on 22 August
2013 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by the shareholders
of WYT and the Company at their respective general meetings,
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.

Pursuant to the WYT 2013 Scheme, share options may be
granted to any director or proposed director (whether executive
or non-executive, including the independent non-executive
directors) of WYT, employee or proposed employee (whether
full-time or parttime), secondee, any holder of securities issued
by any member of the WYT Group, any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support
or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to
any member of the WYT Group or any substantial shareholder or
company controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants (the “WYT Participants”).

Under the WYT 2013 Scheme, the board of directors of WYT
may grant share options to the WYT Participants to subscribe
for shares of WYT for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of
share options granted which must be accepted within 30 days
from the offer date. Share options do not confer rights on the
holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings of WYT.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Pursuant to the WYT 2013 Scheme, the maximum number of
share options that may be granted under the WYT 2013 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of WYT is the number, upon
their exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued
share capital of WYT from time to time, excluding any shares
issued on the exercise of share options. The total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the WYT 2013 Scheme and any other schemes
shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of shares of
WYT in issue, as at the date of approval of the WYT 2013 Scheme
limit or as refreshed from time to time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each WYT Participant (except for a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of WYT or any of their
respective associates) under the WYT 2013 Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the number of shares of WYT
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by shareholders of WYT
and the Company with such WYT Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. Share options granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of WYT (or any of their
respective associates) must be approved by the independent
non-executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive
directors who is the grantee of the option) of WYT.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEEHE (R)

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive directors of WYT (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of share options already
granted and to be granted to such person under the WYT 2013
Scheme and any other share option schemes of WYT (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of WYT’s shares at
each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of
share options is required to be approved by shareholders of WYT
and the Company at a general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules. Any change in the terms of a share option granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director (or any of their respective associates) is also required to
be approved by shareholders of WYT and the Company.

The exercise price must be at least the highest of (i) the official
closing price of the shares of WYT as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date which must be a
business day; (i) the average closing prices of the shares of WYT
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of WYT.

During the year, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed,
cancelled or outstanding under the WYT 2003 Scheme and the
WYT 2013 Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of WYT’s
shares available for issue under the WYT 2013 Scheme is
126,514,288 shares, representing approximately 10.3% of the
total issued share capital of WYT.

Other particulars of the WYT 2013 Scheme are set out in note 36
to the financial statements.

On 3 May 2012, CAP adopted a new share option scheme (the
“CAP 2012 Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing
incentive to selected eligible persons (the “CAP Participants”)
to take options for their contribution to the CAP Group. Under
the CAP 2012 Scheme, the board of directors of CAP may grant
share options to the CAP Participants to subscribe for the shares
of CAP (the “CAP Share(s)”) for a consideration of HK$1 for
each lot of share options granted. The exercise price is to be
determined by its board and shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the official closing price of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the official closing price
of the CAP Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of a CAP Share.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The number of CAP Shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any CAP Participant in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the CAP Shares
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
shareholders of CAP. Options granted to substantial shareholders
of CAP or independent non-executive directors of CAP, or any of
their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the CAP Shares
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
must be approved in advance by the shareholders of CAP. The
CAP 2012 Scheme became effective on 3 May 2012 and will
remain in force for a period of 10 years. There is no specific
requirement that an option must be held for any minimum period
before it can be exercised but its board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of grant of
any particular option. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the board of CAP at its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised for a period of
more than 10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at
general meeting, the board of CAP may refresh the limit at any
time to 10% of the total number of CAP Shares in issue as at
the date of approval by the shareholders of CAP at its general
meeting. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the CAP Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the CAP 2012 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of CAP at any time shall not exceed
30% of the CAP Shares in issue from time to time.

Since the adoption of the CAP 2012 Scheme and up to 31 March
2022, 226,000,000 share options have been granted. The CAP
2012 Scheme expired in May 2022. As at the date of this annual
report, no option was available for issue under the CAP 2012
Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The share options scheme(s) of CAP (continued)

Other particulars of the CAP 2012 Scheme are set out in note 36
to the financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed that the following
shareholders (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) had notified the Company and the Stock Exchange of
relevant interests and short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:

B8 (F)
TEIREmBRES (&)

FREEM T —F:8l 2 EMFBHR
TEERERMITES6 ©

FERRRHEMATRERG REBER S
ZEBERARR

RZEZZF=A=+—8 " BESHMZEA "
RARRIBEES RHAEKRIIE 6 IEEEFE L
FERFECMABET - TIRR(ESHAR
RIEZITHABRIN EME AR R LR FTE
AR BN RABRER D R A 2 = &

NP
KRR

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Number of total issued
Notes Capacity shares share capital
BERTRH
BRITREZ
Name of Shareholder RRe8/ 1% it af RH#E R ER
(Note (4))
(Hit)
%
Accord Power Limited YNBERAA (1) Beneficial owner 4,989,928,827 3123
(‘Accord Power’) ([3n)) — Tang’s Family Trust
BHEAA
—BRFHER
AlpadisTrust (HK) Limited AlpadisTrust (HK) Limited ? Interest of controlled corporation 4989,928,827 31.23
— Trustee
RTINS — KA
Mr. Domink Philipp Heer Dominik Philipp Heer ) Interest of controlled corporation 4,989,928 827 31.23
pid REHARER
Mr. Alain Esseiva Alain Esseiva %t & ) Interest of controlled corporation 4,989,928 827 3128
RIS
Ms. Krinya Heer Krinya Heer T - © Family interest 4,989,928,827 31.28
RIS
WYT firre 4 Interest of controlled corporation 1,716,749,000 10.74
REHARER
TECICEFR EREEERAA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)

Notes:

(1) Accord Power is wholly owned by AlpadisTrust (HK) Limited in its
capacity as the trustee of Tang’s Family Trust. Accordingly, AlpadisTrust
(HK) Limited was taken to be interested in those shares held by Accord
Power.

(2)  Alpadis Group Holding AG is held by ESSEIVA, Alain as to 53.34%
and HEER, Dominik Philipp as to 40.60%. Accordingly, ESSEIVA,
Alain and HEER, Dominik Philipp were taken to be interested in those
Shares in which Alpadis Group Holding AG was interested. HEER,
Krinya is the spouse of HEER, Dominik Philipp and was therefore taken
to be interested in those Shares in which HEER, Dominik Philipp was
interested.

©) Alpadis Trust (HK) Limited is the trustee of Tang’s Family Trust. Alpadis
Trust (HK) Limited is owned as to 20% by each of Eastwest Trading
Ltd., Raysor Limited, AGH Invest Ltd., AGH Capital Ltd. and Alpadis
Group Holding AG.

(4) WYT is an indirect non wholly-owned listed subsidiary of the Company.

(5) The percentages were disclosed pursuant to the relevant disclosure
forms filed under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there were no
persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) who had an interest or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or where were recorded in the register
that was required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group recognised enhancing and maintaining good
relationships with suppliers and customers are essential for the
Group’s overall growth and development. The Group placed
specific caution on selection of quality suppliers and customers
and encourages fair and open competition to foster long-term
relationships with quality suppliers on the basis of mutual trust.
The Group has kept good communications and shared business
updates with them when appropriate. The communication policies
and the Group’s performance are detailed in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published in accordance the
requirement under the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 8 December 2016, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, namely Richly Gold Limited (as the landlord), entered
into a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) with
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, the Deputy Chairman of the Company, (as the
tenant) in respect of the lease of a premise located at Winners
Lodge, Nos. 9-15 Ma Yeung Path, Kau To Shan, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong for a term of three years commencing
from 15 November 2016 and expiring on 14 November 2019
at a monthly rental of HK$100,000, which was renewed for a
further three years until 13 November 2022 under a renewal
tenancy agreement dated 27 February 2020 with other terms
and conditions remained unchanged. The aforesaid tenancy
constituted a continuing connected transaction (the “Continuing
Connected Transaction”) for the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022 which is exempt from disclosure, annual
review and shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(continued)

On 2 September 2021, Wai Yuen Tong Medicine Company
Limited, an indirect subsidiary of WYT (together with its
subsidiaries, the “WYT Group”), entered into a new master
sales agreement (the “New Master Sales Agreement”) with
Wang On Management Limited (“WOM?”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, for the sale of the Chinese and
western pharmaceutical, health food and personal care products
manufactured and/or sold by the WYT Group from time to time (the
“Products”) to WOM (for itself and on behalf of other members of
the Group) for a term with effect from 1 April 2021 and expiring on
31 March 2024 with the annual cap of HK$9.9 million for each of
the financial years ended 31 March 2022, ending 31 March 2023
and 31 March 2024. The aggregate transaction amount incurred
between the WYT Group and the Group with respect to the sale
of the Products from 1 April 2021 up to the date of the New
Master Sales Agreement is less than HK$3 million. The transaction
amount incurred between the WYT Group and the Group (excludes
the WYT Group but includes the CAP Group) under the New
Master Sales Agreement for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$8.3 million. The New Master Sales Agreement
constituted a Continuing Connected Transaction for the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022 which is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements,
but is exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of
the New Master Sales Agreement were disclosed in the joint
announcement of the Company and WYT dated 2 September
2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION
(continued)

The Directors (including all of the INEDs) have reviewed and
confirmed that the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions were entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of the Group’s business; (i) in accordance with the terms of the
respective agreements governing such transactions on terms that
were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole; (iii) either on normal commercial terms
or on terms no less favourable to the Group than those available
to or from independent third parties; and (iv) have not exceeded
the respective caps. Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor,
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange. Further details of other related party transactions and/
or continuing connected transactions undertaken by the Group
in the ordinary course of business during the year under review,
which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, are set out in
note 45 to the financial statements. The Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above, there were
no other transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 18 June 2021, Century Choice Limited (“Century
Choice”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CAP, and Yulin Market
Development Service Centre* (EMMTEFHIEREE L) (the
“PRC Shareholder”), a substantial shareholder of Yulin Hongjin
Agricultural By-products Wholesale Marketplace Limited* (=7
HEERERMETHER2AA) (“Yulin Hongjin”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CAP, entered into a capital reorganisation
agreement in respect of Yulin Hongjin, pursuant to which (among
other things) (i) the PRC Shareholder waived its entitlement to
35% of the dividend declared by Yulin Hongjin for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 being RMB40.95 million and directed
the same to be paid to Century Choice, and (i) the amount of
registered capital contribution by Century Choice in Yulin Hongjin
reduced by an amount equal to approximately RMB41.9 million
(the “Capital Reorganisation Agreement”). As a result of such
reduction of registered capital contribution, the CAP Group’s
equity interest in Yulin Hongjin decreased from 65% to 51%.
Accordingly, the Group’s effective interest in Yulin Hongjin was
decreased from approximately 22.82% to approximately 17.91%.
Such decrease in equity interest constitutes a disposal by CAP of
its equity interest in Yulin Hongjin under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Capital Reorganisation Agreement also constituted a
connected transaction for the Company under the Listing Rules,
details of which were set out in the joint announcement of the
Company, WYT and CAP dated 18 June 2021.

Further details of other related party transactions undertaken by
the Group in the ordinary course of business, which fell under
Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules, during the year under review are
set out in note 45 to the financial statements. The Company has
complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save as disclosed above,
there were no other transactions which need to be disclosed as
connected transaction in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling approximately HK$42.1 million (2021: approximately
HK$7.3 million).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s emolument policy for its employees is set up and
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board, as authorised by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting, having regarded
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the 2012 Scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the 2012 Scheme are
set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices for the benefit of the Company
and its Shareholders. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company
has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
financial year under review, except for code provision A.5.1 of the
CG Code. Details of the corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 68 to 100 of this annual report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

(1) Changes in Directors’ remuneration, where appropriate,
were disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements of this
Annual Report.

(2)  Mr. Chan Yung was appointed as a member of the seventh
legislative council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC from 1 January 2022.

During the financial year ended, save as disclosed above, there
is no other change in information of the Directors since the
publication of the 2021 interim report which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient prescribed amount of public float as
required under the Listing Rules throughout the financial year
under review and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference (as amended from time to time) in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. During the year
under review, the Audit Committee comprised three INEDs,
namely Mr. Siu Kam Chau, Mr. Chan Yung and Mr. Wong Chun,
Justein and Mr. Siu Kam Chau acted as the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met twice with management
and the external auditor to review and consider, among other
things, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, the financial reporting matters (including the review of the
audited consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31
March 2021 and the unaudited consolidated interim results for the
six-month ended 30 September 2021), the statutory compliance,
internal controls, risk management and the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their training
programmes and budget.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee
with management and independent auditors of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events of the Group after the reporting period
are set out in note 49 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have
been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young, who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their
re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ching Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022

Wang On Group Limited Annual Report 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RBENRE

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Wang On Group Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wang
On Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 149 to 392, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

F Wang On Group Limited
(ZZEEERAT)*BRR
(REFZEFMHA IR ERAA])
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BB T 7S 5 149 = 392 H Ay Wang On
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INDEPENDENT AUD|TOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUD|TOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

RRTYRRIFEL EYREZ A &5 FE

The Group’s properties under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate carrying amount of these properties was
HK$7,106,509,000 which represented approximately
35 4% of the total assets of the Group.

IZ%E$%%&HWM%%%MW$£T“E@
@ﬁ%¢?ﬁ%ﬂ$ WRZZE_Z_F=A=+—8"
EYE 2 REBEA7,106,509,0008 7T * 14 ,aml
HEER35.4% °

During the year, no further write-down or reversal was
recognised in profit or loss against these properties.
FA - BESZSYMERIE T HERE — DO S
IE] o

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuations of the properties under development and
properties held for sale as at 31 March 2022. This is
identified as a key audit matter because significant
estimation is required to determine the net realisable
value of the properties under development and
properties held for sale, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

SER _T__F=RA=+—RAZEIIBAEML
E$%¥&H¢ﬁ%%%Lﬁ%ﬁ SEIES R SRR =
AERIE REREETERTYELFELEMEREA
HEITERMAER  WRRRSEHRR ISR -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the properties under development and properties held
for sale are included in notes 2.4, 3, 16 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
BAZRERDYERBELEDEZ S BERLEEEHR
fre ISR MIEE2.4 - 3 16 %20 °

Our audit procedures to assess the estimation of net
realisable value of properties under development and
properties held for sale included the following:
HPIRTEBERPYERBELEWEZ ATRERFER
AT EA IR BRIETAIRIE

° obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuers engaged by the
Group;

e WMELENAH EEEZEZIBEEMAGER
ZEERE

° assessing the external valuers’ qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and

o  AHMEINEBIAERM BN KBRERFEMAH - AR
ERHE  BEUERBIM &

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations, on a sampling basis.

o FEBRMOABEHEBZIRHBEHRMBETHMEE
AR 2 METERIRBZ ER2E -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB S (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFANEFSNMEERRETSHE

Valuation of investment properties

REYRZI1GE

The Group holds various investment properties in Hong
Kong and Mainland China for rental earning purpose.
Such investment properties were measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period and the aggregate
carrying amount of these investment properties as at 31
March 2022 was HK$4,280,012,000 which represented
approximately 21.3% of the total assets of the Group.
EREBERNEERPEANMIFE ZERE YA RNAE
T ABREMERBERREATEFERZSE
REMER_T_—_F=-A=+—HZEEZEAL
4,280,012,00087T ' 16 BEEBEBAEEL21.3% °

The Group engaged external valuers to perform the
valuation of these investment properties as at 31
March 2022 and in the absence of current prices in an
active market for similar properties, the external valuers
considered information from a variety of sources such
as current prices of properties with similar locations
and conditions, estimated rental value of the relevant
properties and capitalisation rates. This is identified
as a key audit matter because significant estimation
is required to determine the fair values of investment
properties, which reflect market conditions at the end of
the reporting period.

EEER T _F=A=1+—HZEBIINEEMEZ
EREBEVFETHE MEBRZEREREUYELERM
5 E2 BRIBRZIERAT @ INPEEMERT ZEARE
BIFRISE R - BIansa LI B MR 2 MR 2 ERIER -
MHEMEZ AETREARE R X - HiR#E7I AR
FATEIE - DHREEREMEZ A THEAELEXM
5t HAl R EHIR 2 TIsikR o

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
valuation of investment properties are included in notes
2.4, 3 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREYEME GFTBER RIRBH NGRS M HRE
fizE2.4 - 3% 140

140 Wang On Group Limited  Annual Report 2022

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

B HER B YR B ECEAIEF A NISRA

° obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuers engaged by the
Group;

e HUYSKEMNA
ZEERE

BREZRE 25 B0 E B AR R

° assessing the external valuers’ qualification,
experience and expertise and considering their
competence, objectivity and independence;

o FHEINERAERMZER  KBREERMNE AR
ZRHE  FEMRBII

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuation, and performing
pbenchmarking on the values of the investment
properties to the transaction prices of other
comparable properties on a sampling basis; and

o  HHERMNHABEEZIR BB M EEETFT
JER 2 BT ERTRA 2 BR2 Sk Bk
BYMEZBERAMAIELEBRME LR HER
&

o comparing property-related data used as inputs
for the valuations with underlying documentation,
such as lease agreements, on a sampling basis.

o MRLLEBEMERABIRZ Y ERBEEIREE
B - BIEnFE & ek o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB S (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHE N AEERAREETSR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment in pharmaceutical and health food product business

BELRERmEMRBYF BB RREZRIETFE

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) before current
year impairment of HK$1,049,759,000 which relate to
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) of pharmaceutical and
health food products. Given that there are internal and
external source of information that indicate impairment
or reversal of impairment may exist, management of the
Company performed an impairment assessment of the
related property, plant and equipment to determine their
recoverable amounts based on either their value in use
or fair value less costs of disposal.
RZTE__F=A=+—8B  BE5EHED%
BEREE(BECHEEE) (MBRARFEERER)
1,049,759,0008 T * P RBELMRBREREMZE R
EFBEN(ReEEELBN]) - ARFEAELEETBESK
AR 2 R RINBAORER - B ERRERER
BEABESI A THER L ERANEBEYE - BE &R
EHEITRERE - ABEEH P B S5 -

During the year, net reversal of impairment of
HK$6,395,000 was made against these property, plant
and equipment.

RAEE - BEEEEHZEYE  BEMRREBEDR
{E# B %8 6,395,000,8 7T °

For impairment assessments using the value in
use calculations, our audit procedures included the

following:
HERAEREBEAEZRENGNE - RAIZEARERF

BETHIEA

° enquiring of management in relation to the key
assumptions applied in the cash flow projections,
such as the revenue growth rates and gross
margins, and comparing them to historical
information and our understanding of latest market
information and conditions; and

e MERESHRSMIEAFARANBRMRR
flan g R R R EN X - I EEEER K
HPIE A TISERAATEIRRRIELLE : &

° involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us with our assessment of the methodologies
and the discount rates used to determine the
recoverable amounts on a sampling basis;

o  BFHFMNANIBHEEERBHRMAMETHETE
AT S REPE R E A RITIRE

TECCFFR EREEAR.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB S (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment in pharmaceutical and health food product business

(continued)

EHERRERMEMEFYF - BERZEZIRETE (F)

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values
of the property, plant and equipment and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in the assessment
of the recoverable amounts.

EEYZ - BE MR EREE B2 AR E AT
Bl & 2R M E A A R b Et - RERH G5 A —1ER
RETEIE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the
impairment of items of property, plant and equipment
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B  BEMRBEBBEZ SR IBEESHN
e IS mRMIEE2.4 - 3% 13 °
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For impairment assessments using the fair value less
costs of disposal of the relevant property, plant and
equipment, our audit procedures included the following:
MEREBRYE - BB LREH 2 AT EREEKNAZH
EFEME R EAERFEETIEE -

o obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group;

o HEREMH
ZIEERE

BEREZ R 2 5NER A EED AR

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence; and

o FHAINEBIAERIZ B  KBRFEMH - UK
EZEHERES BEEMRBIE &

° involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in the assessment of the valuation
methodologies applied and the key parameters
adopted in the valuations.

o  BHFEEMOAIEEZIRBEBEMTEEES P
JER 2 HERERFTERA 2 R 28 -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB S (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BEFEITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of interests in joint ventures

RE SRR Z Ea Bl E S

The Group has various interests in joint ventures which
are principally engaged in property investment and
property development in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. The Group’s interests in joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. As at 31 March
2022, the aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in joint ventures was HK$2,797,739,000, which
represented approximately 13.9% of the total assets of
the Group.

BERERaErEREESERD  MEEAERETE
REBERPEAMEEMERERYERRE - BEEE
RELPEIERBEEEER BEEEREEE
FHEREMRESEENGEMBERARIIR - RZF

T TH=A=1+—H  BEEREAZECEZERER
{8 452,797,739,000 87T ' HER BEEBBEEEY
13.9% °

The impairment assessment has been identified as a key
audit matter due to the materiality of the carrying values
of the interests in joint ventures and the significant
judgements and estimations involved in impairment
assessment of interests in joint ventures.
ERREEECERRAEUARRREEbE R
EITRER A PTS Rz ERAE RAETEZNE - 2R
(EREEEE RV I

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment of interests in joint ventures included the
following:
BB ENE EER 2R EN G ZEAEFERE
THIEE :

° obtaining and reviewing the valuation reports
prepared by the external valuer engaged by the
Group on which the Group’s assessment of the
impairment of interests in joint ventures was
based;

o WMELENH EEEZEZIBEEMMAGER
ZIEERSE  MAKEFERE SRR 2 ERM
BENERZMERS

° assessing the external valuer’s qualification,
experience and expertise and considering the
external valuer’s competence, objectivity and
independence; and

o  FHMEINERAERMZEMR KBMERFEREAB - AR
ZREREN BEEMELME R

° involving our internal valuation specialists to assist
us to assess the valuation methodologies applied
and the key parameters adopted in the valuations
on a sampling basis.

o  BEHEEMOAFLEZIRBEE MM EHEE
TR 2 MEFERRAZ BR2E -

TECCFFR EREEAR.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BB S (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEFEITER RMHOFAMAEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of interests in joint ventures (continued)

RE ERRZ Em B E S (&)

For those joint ventures engaged in property investment,
the Group determines the recoverable amount with
reference to the fair value less costs of disposal of these
joint ventures which are dependent on the fair values
of the investment properties held by respective joint
ventures.
RREVEREZEEREMNS » BEEEZ2EZES
EREZAFERDEXNNEETEHAIKRE SR (RT
BELERERBIREMEITEME)

For those joint ventures engaged in property
development, the Group determines the recoverable
amount with reference to the fair value less costs of
disposal of these joint ventures which are dependent
on the expected market prices of the properties under
development and properties held for sale held by
respective joint ventures.
MUREMEERZGERENS X EEEZ2EZES
B 2 A TER SR A& E H AT Ul & 28 (18 F
BEEECERACERTYENFHELEME 2 TAHT
BfE) °

Based on the results of impairment tests, no impairment
loss on interests in joint ventures was considered
necessary for the year ended 31 March 2022.
BE_T-__F=A=1T—HILFE REABEARLE
R NELEEZRGTBEREEBEARBLE -

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to
the interests in joint ventures are included in notes 2.4, 3
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BN ERRZERZ SRR IBBEH NGRS MG
HwEMIE2.4 - 3R 17 °
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BB RS (F)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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TSR FR 2 HmER
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PSR R B I BENIRE -

BAEGEAMBREANERAL T RELME
B BT HREFEMERBERETATL AR
EERB i o

AR MEGEAMBHRENETMS - RANE
TREEREMEN  FLERS  EEEME
PR RRAMBHRAR B PIERT BT
BENEAFEENEBXEUFFEEKNSE
RRAABER - ERBADATHIHE 1R
BPRSEMENFEERERRML - HIFIF
BHREZFE - EH | - BB EMSRS

ESUASYBBRRARENEE

BERREZRAARRBEEESMASRMN
HRPHMEERNNEB QBRI RESRE
REEBEMPENGEAMBHRE - AHERS
REFE M ERRORETFE RN EEF
RMEBNE A RRAFTFEOANFIEFIEE -

EREGEMBHRRE - EQAREFAAHN
ft BEEERELENESN  YHEERBLT
BEEFELEEENER  UREAFEL
EREHER KBIE BERREFRAER &
SEHBRNMFILEE  HFELMERNER

TTE °

BERZEEeWY BEARE